Western Kentucky University

# **TopSCHOLAR®**

Masters Theses & Specialist Projects

**Graduate School** 

Spring 2020

# Is Physical Activity During Late Pregnancy Related to Infant Body Composition at Birth?

Brenna Menke Western Kentucky University, bmenke29@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.wku.edu/theses

Part of the Maternal and Child Health Commons, Obstetrics and Gynecology Commons, and the Women's Health Commons

## **Recommended Citation**

Menke, Brenna, "Is Physical Activity During Late Pregnancy Related to Infant Body Composition at Birth?" (2020). *Masters Theses & Specialist Projects.* Paper 3206. https://digitalcommons.wku.edu/theses/3206

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by TopSCHOLAR®. It has been accepted for inclusion in Masters Theses & Specialist Projects by an authorized administrator of TopSCHOLAR®. For more information, please contact topscholar@wku.edu.

# IS PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DURING LATE PREGNANCY RELATED TO INFANT BODY COMPOSITION AT BIRTH?

A Thesis Presented to The Faculty of the School of Kinesiology, Recreation, and Sport Western Kentucky University Bowling Green, Kentucky

> In Partial Fulfillment Of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science

> > By Brenna Menke

> > > May 2020

# IS PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DURING LATE PREGNANCY RELATED TO INFANT BODY COMPOSITION AT BIRTH?

Date Recommended June 23, 2020

Rachel Timiur

Rachel Tinius, Director of Thesis

ill M. Maples Jill Maples  $Z_{\lambda}$ Keri Esslinger

7/8/2020

Associate Provost for Research and Graduate Education

I dedicate this thesis to my parents, Kim and Kristy, for I am forever grateful for their constant love, guidance, and support in pursuing my dreams. Thank you both for the endless opportunities and experiences that have made me who I am today. I also write this dedication to my three wonderful mentors-Dr. Tinius, Dr. Maples, and Dr. Esslinger. I truly appreciate the knowledge and wisdom you all have imparted on me that extends far beyond this paper. This journey would not have been possible if not for all of you, and I dedicate this milestone to you.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Without the help of my family, friends and professors along the way, this thesis would not be complete. First, I wish to thank my committee members who were more than generous with their precious time, support, and guidance throughout the preparation and review of this thesis, especially during the crazy time that the Spring Semester of 2020 brought us. I owe my deepest gratitude to my advisor, Dr. Tinius, who brought me onboard with the pregnancy studies early in my academic career at WKU. Her enthusiasm and love for research is contagious and is the reason I decided to pursue my Master's degree in her lab. I would also like to extend my gratitude to Dr. Maples, who has given invaluable guidance and insightful comments throughout the writing process of this thesis. It has been a pleasure to work with her on various projects throughout my time at WKU, especially this one. I'm extremely grateful to Dr. Esslinger, for her unwavering support, practical suggestions and profound belief in my work. I will forever be grateful for her guidance as I discovered my passion and encouragement to shift career paths to Occupational Therapy.

A special thanks to my research teammates, Kolbi Edens, Samantha Henry and Catie Duchette, for their friendship, encouragement and support during my Master's. Many of the PEA PODS wouldn't have happened without you guys and presenting at conferences would have been a real dud if I was doing this on my own. I am also thankful for my roommate Anna Darling for her spiritual support, ice cream runs and many hours proofreading my thesis.

iv

I would like to thank all of the nurses and staff on the postpartum floor at The Medical Center of Bowling Green for their patience and support during the newborn visits. I would also like to thank all of the participants who were willing to entrust me with their newborn and for their enthusiasm to participate in the pregnancy research studies. I gratefully acknowledge the following groups for their support of this research-the National Institutes of Health through the Institutional Development Award (IDeA), the WKU Office of Research and Creative Activity (RCAP), and the WKU School of Kinesiology, Recreation and Sport at WKU (Graduate Assistantship). Without their financial contributions, this project would not have been a success.

Lastly, I owe my sincere gratitude to my family for providing me with unfailing support throughout my college career. Their patience and continuous encouragement while I pursue my dreams is greatly appreciated. A special thanks to my fur babies, Ava and Scarlet, who have brought life, laughs and love on this journey.

# CONTENTS

Introduction	1
Literature Review	6
Methods	36
Results	41
Discussion	56
Conclusion	64
Bibliography	65
Appendices	84

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Sedentary Time Correlation43	3
Figure 2. Light Activity Correlation44	4
Figure 3. Moderate Activity Correlation44	4
Figure 4. % Body Fat by Baseline Activity Levels4	6
Figure 5. % Body Fat by ActiGraph Sedentary Time4	17
Figure 6. % Body Fat by ActiGraph Light Activity4	17
Figure 7. % Body Fat by ActiGraph Moderate Activity4	18
Figure 8. % Body Fat by ActiGraph MVPA4	8
Figure 9. % Body Fat by Most Active4	9
Figure 10. % Body Fat by Most Sedentary5	0
Figure 11. Most Active vs. Least Active5	0
Figure 12. % Body Fat by Delivery Method5	51
Figure 13. Birth Weight by Delivery Method5	52
Figure 14. % Body Fat by Infant Gender5	53
Figure 15. % Body Fat by Maternal Ethnicity	53
Figure 16. % Body Fat by Parity5	54
Figure 17. % Body Fat by Birth Weight (LGA)5	54

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Literature Chart	20
Table 2. Maternal Demographics	41
Table 3. Late-Pregnancy Physical Activity	.42
Table 4. Infant Demographics & Anthropometrics	.45
Table 5. PEA POD Correlations	.55

## IS PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DURING LATE PREGNANCY RELATED TO INFANT BODY COMPOSITION AT BIRTH?

Brenna Menke	May 2020		97 pages
Directed by: Rachel Tinius,	Jill Maples, and Keri	Esslinger	
School of Kinesiology, Recr	eation, and Sport	Western Kentucky	University

Exercise is typically regarded as having a positive impact on maternal and infant health. However, the relationship between maternal physical activity and infant body composition is unclear. The aim of this project was to determine how a physically active lifestyle during late pregnancy influences infant anthropometrics at birth. Pregnant women (34-39 weeks gestation) with low-risk pregnancies were given the Pregnancy Physical Activity Questionnaire (PPAQ) and an accelerometer to wear on their non-dominant wrist for seven consecutive days. Approximately 24-48 hours after delivery, infant body composition was assessed utilizing air displacement plethysmography at the patients' bedside. Fifty-five pregnant women participated (age: 30.8±4.5 years; pre-pregnancy BMI: 25.8±6.4 kg/m<sup>2</sup>). There were no significant correlations between maternal physical activity levels (sedentary, light, moderate) assessed via accelerometry and PPAQ and infant adiposity (PEA POD), even after controlling for infant's gestational age, gestational weight gain, pre-pregnancy BMI, and parity. Further, when the most sedentary women and most active women were compared, there were no significant differences observed in infant body fat percentage (12.0±4.5 % vs.13.6±3.2 %, respectively; p=0.377). Secondary findings concerning infant body composition included: Infants born vaginally were heavier  $(3.6\pm0.4 \text{ g vs.})$ 

ix

3.1 $\pm$ 0.4 g; p=0.002) and tended to have a higher percentage of body fat (PEA POD) (14.01 $\pm$ 4.3 % vs. 11.29 $\pm$ 2.6 %; p=0.040) than those infants who were delivered by cesarean section (C/S). Infants born Large-for-Gestation Age (LGA) had a higher percentage of body fat (PEA POD) but this finding was not statistically significant (15.6 $\pm$ 2.0% vs. 13.1 $\pm$ 4.0% p=0.142). With regard to parity, infants second (or higher) in the birth order tended to have a higher percentage of body fat (PEA POD) (14.16 $\pm$ 3.9% vs. 12.33 $\pm$ 3.8%, p=0.088). Contrary to our hypothesis, there was not a significant correlation between late pregnancy physical activity and infant body fat percentage. Physical activity during late pregnancy is safe and at least does not have a detrimental impact on infant anthropometrics.

*Keywords*: Pregnancy; neonatal adiposity; air-displacement plethysmography; exercise

### **Introduction**

Pregnancy is a critical time point for health-related changes and decisions. In addition to sustaining and growing a fetus, a woman undergoes many other physiological changes that affect both the mind and body during pregnancy and for years after. Many women experience a new or renewed sense of motivation for making lifestyle changes as suddenly their health-related decisions impact their unborn child (McCarthy et al., 2016; Sui, 2013). Therefore, a thorough understanding of infant outcomes that can be improved through exercise is warranted.

Obstetricians and other women's health care providers are encouraging healthy women to exercise during pregnancy as there is growing evidence to support the association between safe physical activity during pregnancy and maternal and infant health benefits (Moyer et al., 2016b; Mudd et al., 2013; Prather et al., 2012). These potential benefits for infants include increased gestational age at delivery, higher Apgar scores, decreased risk for small-forgestational age(SGA), decreased risk for large-for-gestational age((LGA)/macrosomia), lower percentage of fat mass, decreased risk of future chronic disease development, and a potential for improved neurodevelopment (Moyer et al., 2016b). Despite all of these benefits, only 15 percent of pregnant women meet the current physical activity guidelines recommended by the American College of Sports Medicine (ACSM) and the American College of Obstetrics and Gynecology (ACOG) of 150 minutes of moderate-intensity activity per week (Evenson et al., 2014). A failure to meet these recommendations has

been linked to maternal weight gain, chronic disease, morbidity, and mortality (ACOG Committee on Obstetric Practice, 2020) and during pregnancy, can have downstream consequences for the infant (Fazzi et al., 2017).

Birth weight and length are traditional indicators of a healthy intrauterine growth environment (Clapp et al., 2000). Traditionally, "chunky" or large babies have been identified as well-fed, healthy babies (Ong, 2006). However, there is growing concern over the increase in birth weights of babies born small for gestational age (SGA), large for gestational age (LGA), and macrosomic, specifically, from mothers who are obese. A macrosomic infant is one whose birth weight is above 4,000 grams regardless of birth length, occurring in about nine percent of births (Owe et al., 2009). Increases in birth weight above four kg can likely indicate corresponding increases in adiposity later in life (Zhang et al., 2008). Presence of adiposity at birth through two years is recognized as a predictor for childhood obesity and for developing metabolic syndrome or other non-communicable diseases as adults (Barbour et al., 2016; McCarthy et al., 2016). On the other end of the spectrum, a SGA infant has a birth weight below 2,500 g and is often associated with intrauterine growth restriction (Sayers et al., 2017). During the first six months of life, the majority of SGA infants experience early catch-up growth followed by a normal pattern of growth. However, the catch-up growth seems to be associated with fat mass rather than lean mass and can place SGA children at higher risk for developing cardiovascular disease and other diseases associated with metabolic syndrome (Cho & Suh, 2016).

Several studies have found that exercise during pregnancy is linked with lower infant birth weights (Bisson et al., 2017; Pastorino et al., 2018) and does not inhibit healthy growth of the fetus (i.e., lead to SGA infants or intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR)) (Clapp et al., 1998; Mudd et al., 2013; Pivarnik, 1998). However, birth weight alone cannot adequately estimate adiposity. In adults, methods that measure body fat versus lean mass are better predictors of health outcomes than weight or BMI alone (Lee et al., 2018).

While many studies have investigated the role of exercise in infant birth weight, limited research exists on maternal exercise during pregnancy and infant body composition. Body composition, specifically fat mass relative to fat-free mass, at birth is a better determinant of adiposity than birth weight alone (Hopkins et al., 2010). Clapp & Capeless found that women who were previously active and remained active throughout pregnancy, by participating in moderatevigorous physical activities (MVPA) three days per week, gave birth to infants with less fat mass (assessed via skinfolds) than those who were not active (Clapp & Capeless, 1990). A similar decrease in infant fat mass (assessed via PEA POD) was found in the *Healthy Start Study* (2014) with increasing levels of MVPA during late-pregnancy (Harrod et al., 2014). However, a recent systematic review of exercise-only randomized control trials reported an inverse association between MVPA during pregnancy and reducing births on the extreme ends of birth weight (i.e., SGA & Macrosomia) while no association was found with infant body composition (i.e., fat mass, fat-free mass, percent fat mass, BMI) (Davenport et al., 2018). There is some evidence that the intensity (Pivarnik,

1998) and timing (Pastorino et al., 2018) of physical activity may be modifying factors. Findings across the literature are inconsistent and there is a need for more reliable and valid methodologies.

Skinfolds are a traditional method used for measuring body composition in infants. While skinfolds are the most common anthropometric measurement tool because of the ease of use and low cost, there is limited precision and accuracy in infants (Barbour et al., 2016; Cauble et al., 2017; Demerath & Fields, 2014). Air-displacement plethysmography (ADP) is now regarded as the gold standard method for measuring infant body composition (Barbour et al., 2016; McCarthy et al., 2016). Infant ADP (PEA POD) has increased in popularity in clinical research as it is simple to use, fast, possesses no risk to an infant, and doesn't require an infant to lie still. However, it is expensive, and many medical centers do not have access to this technology. Because of this, there is limited research investigating physical activity during pregnancy and how it relates to infant body composition utilizing the PEA POD. The impact of physical activity during late pregnancy on infant body composition is still unclear. Because infant ADP is the new gold standard for assessing infant body composition, more research is needed to determine the role of physical activity during pregnancy on infant body composition utilizing this methodology.

Therefore, the aim of this project was to examine the association between physical activity during late pregnancy (34-39 weeks gestation) and infant anthropometric outcomes utilizing the new gold standard

*method for body composition (PEA POD).* In order to accomplish this goal, physical activity was measured subjectively and objectively during late pregnancy and the infant's body composition was measured through the PEA POD within 48 hours of birth. *The hypothesis for this study is that maternal physical activity levels during pregnancy will be negatively correlated with infant body composition at birth (i.e. more active moms will deliver leaner babies).* 

#### Literature Review

Physical activity (PA) is a core component of a healthy lifestyle. It covers a range of activities from incidental movement (including walking to get places and activities of daily living) to leisure-time physical activity (LTPA) (such as sports and exercise) that all range from light to moderate and/or vigorous intensities (MVPA). Physical activity has a tremendous amount of benefits for nearly any population including children, adolescents, adults, pregnant women, older adults and adults with chronic diseases or disabilities (i.e., as long as they are able). In fact, physical activity may be the single best preventative medication that exists (Warburton et al., 2006). Across all life stages, PA improves cardiorespiratory fitness, reduces the risk of obesity and associated comorbidities, and contributes to overall longevity (American College of Sports Medicine et al., 2018). Similar to the general population, exercise during pregnancy is extremely beneficial for mothers and babies throughout pregnancy and has lasting benefits into the postpartum period (ACOG Committee on Obstetric Practice, 2020).

During pregnancy, there are many physiological and anatomical changes that occur to provide a healthy environment for the growing fetus. However, situations exist where normal physiologic changes associated with pregnancy can be exacerbated and become problematic for the mother or baby. For example, all women become more insulin resistant during pregnancy as a mechanism to spare glucose for the fetus; however, some women, specifically those with pre-existing glucose control issues or weight issues, may experience

gestational diabetes as a result. Many of these changes have an immediate impact on maternal and fetal health while others can have a long-term impact if left unmonitored or untreated. Fortunately, evidence suggests that exercise during pregnancy can improve maternal outcomes and provides a variety of benefits to the mother throughout pregnancy, during labor, and through the postpartum period.

# <u>The Role of Physical Activity During Pregnancy for Improving Common Maternal</u> <u>Outcomes</u>

A common physiological response to pregnancy is a slight increase in maternal insulin resistance and a decrease in glucose tolerance in order to spare glucose for the growing baby (King, 2000). However, for some women this natural shift in insulin resistance leads to the development of gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM). GDM is the onset of hyperglycemia first diagnoses during pregnancy. Current evidence suggests that exercise can help prevent the development of GDM and improve glucose control throughout pregnancy (Mudd et al., 2013). Preventing and controlling GDM is important for infant health as there is an increased risk for developing excessive birth weight, adiposity at birth, preterm labor, stillbirth, breathing difficulties, obesity and other metabolic disorders in adulthood (Mudd et al., 2013).

Weight gain is a normal and expected part of pregnancy. However, recommended weight gain is dependent upon pre-pregnancy body mass index (i.e. overweight and obese women should gain less weight than normal weight or

underweight women) (Rasmussen & Yaktine, 2009). One of the main goals of prenatal care is for providers to evaluate and monitor maternal weight gain throughout pregnancy. It is critical to monitor progress towards gestational weight gain (GWG) goals and provide individualized counseling if necessary as nearly 50 percent of women today exceed their GWG goals (Deputy et al., 2015). Maternal GWG and postpartum weight retention are directly related. Weight retention in the postpartum period has potential to create a cascading effect leading to excess GWG in subsequent pregnancies and future obesity (Mudd et al., 2013). If excessive GWG is left unmonitored, it can contribute to maternal GDM risk, preeclampsia, preterm labor, postpartum weight retention and lead to birth complications such as intrauterine growth restriction and macrosomia (Streuling et al., 2011). Evidence suggests physical activity during pregnancy may play a role in GWG management strategies (Streuling et al., 2011). Specifically, a review by Mudd et al. (2013) suggests that a lifestyle approach is necessary; exercise and nutrition must be prescribed in combination in order to effectively prevent excessive GWG (Mudd et al., 2013).

Gestational hypertension disorders are on the rise and are one of the leading causes of maternal morbidity and mortality (Lo et al., 2013). Preeclampsia is a gestational hypertensive disorder that develops in the beginning of pregnancy and is diagnosed after 20 weeks gestation. It occurs in about 10 percent of pregnancies and can cause issues throughout pregnancy including maternal multiorgan failure, preterm birth, intrauterine growth restriction, and increased perinatal mortality (Mudd et al., 2013). A recent review

and meta-analysis concluded that participating in aerobic activities for 30-60 minutes most days of the week during pregnancy can help reduce the risk and incidence of gestational hypertension disorders as well as reduce the risk of adverse birth outcomes associated with preeclampsia (Magro-Malosso et al., 2017).

Physical activity during pregnancy has also shown to provide some benefit for other birth outcomes such as increased gestational age, improve labor and delivery, and reduce the rate of operative deliveries, (ACOG Committee on Obstetric Practice, 2020; Mudd et al., 2013). While some studies suggest women who exercise are more likely to deliver closer to their due date, women of low-income minority groups and women with GDM or gestational hypertensive disorders, who participated in LTPA throughout pregnancy, significantly reduced their risk for preterm birth (Moyer et al., 2016). Clinically, it is important for an infant to make it closer to term as those children need less medical assistance at birth than close to term or preterm infants (Moyer et al., 2016). Specifically, term infants have more favorable APGAR scores, improved temperature control, improved respiratory response, and an appropriate weight for gestational age (Wang et al., 2004). In a normal pregnancy, the labor process of natural births has been found to be shorter in women who exercised compared to those who were sedentary (Poyatos-León et al., 2015). A recent study found that the first stage and total time in labor was significantly shorter for women who participated in aerobic exercise three days a week throughout pregnancy (Barakat et al., 2018). Additionally, there is some evidence to suggest that exercise during

pregnancy can reduce the risk of operative deliveries (Barakat et al., 2012). Specifically, exercise during the second and third trimesters can significantly reduce the risk of a cesarean delivery (Poyatos-León et al., 2015). Cesarean Section deliveries pose maternal risks which include infection, postpartum hemorrhage, surgical injury, and increased risk during future pregnancies; infant risks include both short-term breathing difficulties and lack of temperature control as well as long term risks such as obesity and asthma (Sandall et al., 2018).

Maternal PA benefits also extend into the postpartum period with shorter recovery times and reduced risk of postpartum depression (ACOG Committee on Obstetric Practice, 2020). There is evidence to suggest that previously sedentary women who are active throughout pregnancy can improve their postpartum recovery time (Price et al., 2012). Additionally, regardless of delivery method, active women have significantly shorter recovery times after birth than those who were sedentary throughout pregnancy (Price et al., 2012). A recent review found that the risk of developing postpartum depression was significantly reduced in women who exercised during pregnancy (Nakamura et al., 2019). Despite all of these well-established benefits, it is still unclear what amount and intensity of physical activity has the greatest impact on outcomes. Further, studies all look at physical activities in varying capacities, making it difficult to generalize. The intensity, frequency, duration, type of PA, and/or trimester of pregnancy may all modulate the relationships between PA and outcomes (Nakamura et al., 2019).

#### The Role of PA for Improving Infant Outcomes

In addition to improvements in maternal health, physical activity during pregnancy has been shown to have benefits for the infant as well including healthy growth and improved cognition and intelligence (Clapp et al., 1999; Moyer et al., 2016). Birth outcomes are commonly measured to identify the overall health of a newborn. Infant anthropometrics are the majority of birth outcomes measured which include birth weight and classifications (i.e., large for gestational age (macrosomia) and small for gestational age), birth length, circumferences, weight-to-height ratios (i.e., Ponderal Index (PI) and Body Mass Index (BMI)) and body composition (fat mass and fat-free mass). All articles and the infant outcomes analyzed are listed by study in Table 1.

*Birth Weight.* Birth weight is a traditional infant anthropometric measurement and is used as an indicator of a healthy intrauterine growth environment (Clapp et al., 2000). It is the most frequently reported birth outcome with classifications based on gestational age as a percentile and the evidence of how physical activity impacts it are still unclear. Most of the literature points to a lower birth weight (i.e., 150-400 g less) in physically active mothers, without increasing the risk for low birth weight (Bisson et al., 2017; Pastorino et al., 2018). However, other researchers have found no differences and some have even found an increase in birth weights (within the normal range) based on the intensity of the exercise (Bisson et al., 2017; Clapp et al., 2000). A shift in the mean birth weight within the healthy range (i.e., 2500 - 4000 g) may be irrelevant to clinicians as the

concern is primarily on the extreme ends of weight (i.e., SGA & LGA) where an increase in risk of complications occurs (Owe et al., 2009). Overall, the impact of physical activity on birth weight is unclear; it appears that PA does not have an influence on BW, but this relationship appears to be complicated and dependent on the intensity of activity performed.

Large-for-gestational age. Large-for-gestational age (LGA) is defined as a birth weight greater than the 90<sup>th</sup> percentile for age, above 4,000 g (Xu et al., 2010). Further, macrosomia refers to excessive intrauterine growth beyond a certain threshold regardless of gestational age commonly defined a birth weights above 4,500 g (Owe et al., 2009). Evidence suggests that prenatal exercise can decrease the risk of macrosomia by 39% without increasing the risk for SGA, low birth weight, or intrauterine growth restriction (Davenport et al., 2018). One randomized controlled clinical trial found a decrease in the rate of macrosomic infants in the intervention group compared to the control group where mothers exercised three days/week in the second and third trimester (Barakat et al., 2016). Another study found that exercising for three days a week during the second trimester significantly decreased incidence of macrosomia while participating in physical activity before pregnancy had no effect (Owe et al., 2009). In a recent meta-analysis, vigorous physical activity had the biggest effect on macrosomia across all trimesters of pregnancy (four percent reduction of risk) while moderate physical activity

only had a significant impact during late pregnancy (Pastorino et al., 2018). While it is not entirely clear how much physical activity is enough to reduce the risk of delivering an infant with a high birth weight, intensity of the exercise and the time point of pregnancy may be key factors driving the relationship between PA and LGA.

*Small-for-gestational age.* Being born with a low birth weight can have lasting impacts on development and survival (Belbasis et al., 2016). A significant low birth weight is < 2500 g and termed small-for-gestational age (SGA) (Xu et al., 2010). When assessing birth weight, multiple studies found no differences in the risk of delivering a baby with SGA and participating in leisure time physical activity during pregnancy (Davenport et al., 2018). Findings from a recent meta-analysis also suggest that MVPA during late pregnancy can lower birth weights without increasing the risk for SGA (Pastorino et al., 2018). In an observational study by Harrod et al., the mothers who had the highest amounts of total energy expenditure compared to those with the lowest were three times more likely to deliver an infant with SGA (Harrod et al., 2014). However, the difference may be attributed to the reductions in fat-mass and not in reductions of lean mass (Harrod et al., 2014). In a recent study with overweight and obese women enrolled in a trial to promote lifestyle changes, researchers found those who remained sedentary had a significantly higher chance of delivering a SGA infant than those who

participated and met LTPA guidelines set by ACOG of 150 minutes of moderate-intensity PA per week (ACOG Committee on Obstetric Practice, 2020; Trak-Fellermeier et al., 2019).

**Ponderal Index.** Ponderal index (PI) is a weight-to-length ratio, similar to a body mass index for an adult, that can be calculated with data from birth records as [weight/length<sup>3</sup> (kg/m<sup>3</sup>)]. PI can be used as an indicator of fetal growth status, specifically for infants at the extreme ends of the weight distribution where infant morbidity is commonly found (Ong, 2006). Additionally, PI can be used with significant increases in birth weight as an indicator of adiposity at birth. Due to ease of access, these outcomes are commonly reported with birth weight and length across studies (Table 1). With studies reporting mixed birth weight results and no significant differences in birth length with maternal PA during pregnancy (Davenport et al., 2018), the PI findings have also varied. A recent cohort study evaluated pre-pregnancy and early pregnancy (i.e., 15 weeks) LTPA walking and yoga activities and identified the infants born to mothers who participated in yoga and walking had a significantly smaller PI than infants of sedentary mothers (Badon et al., 2018). Similarly, two randomized clinical trials looking at moderate intensity PA throughout pregnancy found significantly smaller PI in infants of the intervention groups (Clapp & Capeless, 1990; Hopkins et al., 2010). While there is a trend of a lower PI with increasing maternal LTPA during late pregnancy (Pastorino et al., 2018), it may not be sensitive enough to detect infant body composition changes at birth.

**Circumferences.** Circumference measurements in an infant at birth are also considered as a means of assessing overall health and development in utero (Johnson & Engstrom, 2002). Head circumferences are taken at birth to identify overall brain development (Clapp et al., 2000) and can be an indicator for intrauterine growth restriction, in addition to the fetus's body size (Clapp et al., 2000). Abdominal circumferences are taken to help determine intra-abdominal fat-mass distribution and estimate adiposity (Harrod et al., 2014). While most of the studies aimed to observe or implement LTPA during pregnancy have shown no significant differences in head and abdominal circumferences, there are a few studies that have conflicting findings for head circumference (Table 1). Two studies found a significant increase in head circumference on infants born to exercising mothers compared to the control mothers (Badon et al., 2016; Clark et al., 2019). In contrast, three cohort studies identified a slight decrease in head circumference in infants born to active women compared to those born to sedentary women but was within the normal range for healthy growth (Joshi et al., 2005; Juhl et al., 2010; Rao et al., 2003). Although evidence is conflicting, these studies, taken together, do suggest that exercise does not negatively affect healthy development in utero.

**Body fat.** Birth weight is the traditional indicator of a healthy intrauterine growth environment (Clapp et al., 2000). However, weight alone cannot adequately estimate fat mass relative to fat-free mass in infants. Another term for excess fat mass is adiposity. The rate of adiposity at birth is increasing among infants born

to obese mothers (Starling et al., 2015). Presence of adiposity at birth and throughout the first two years of life is recognized as an important predictor of childhood obesity and risk for developing chronic metabolic diseases (Barbour et al., 2016; McCarthy et al., 2016). Infant body composition can be evaluated through skin folds, dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA), or air-displacement plethysmography (PEA POD) and is commonly assessed between 72 hours and two weeks of birth.

**Skinfolds.** Although there is limited reproducibility and precision of skin folds (SF) in infants, researchers continue to use the measurement as it is available, cost effective, time efficient, portable, and safe (Barbour et al., 2016). Skinfold outcomes reported are conflicting as collectively, observational studies do not identify a significant association or difference in skinfolds between active and inactive women, whereas findings from clinical trials are mixed (Table 1). For observational studies, differences may not be observed with the skinfold outcomes as the physical activity assessment techniques and quantities of physical activity varies greatly in addition to the number of skinfold sites measured and equations used (Bisson et al., 2015; Joshi et al., 2005; Rao et al., 2003; van Poppel et al., 2019). There is currently no consistent and well-established methodology for assessing and calculating infant body composition via skinfolds. In a recent clinical trial, there were no differences observed in the estimated infant fat mass by skinfolds between the physical activity intervention

group and the control group (Garnæs et al., 2017). This finding is in contrast to the various studies completed by Clapp who observed significant decreases in infant skinfold sums and fat mass estimates (Clapp et al., 1998, 2002; Clapp & Capeless, 1990) among women who were active during pregnancy. In addition to the Clapp studies, two recent RCT studies observed similar decreases in skinfold sums and fat mass estimates of infants born to active mothers compared to inactive mothers (Trak-Fellermeier et al., 2019; van Poppel et al., 2019). However, the PEARLS study (2019) only identified the decrease of fat mass via skinfolds in males as opposed to higher estimates of fat mass via skinfolds in females regardless of the mother's PA participation (Trak-Fellermeier et al., 2019).

**DXA.** Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) is a four compartment method which is viewed as the most accurate measure of body composition in infants (Bisson et al., 2017). However, there are limitations to the DXA scan used in research such as cost, access, ease of use, require the infant to remain still, and marginal safety concerns (Barbour et al., 2016). A DXA scan can be used to determine fat mass, fat-free mass, body fat percentage, and bone mineral density in infants at two weeks of age. There were two studies, one RCT and one cohort, that utilized DXA to measure infant body composition outcomes. In the cohort study utilizing an accelerometer to collect PA, mothers who participated in

vigorous PA at 17 weeks gave birth to infants with significantly less fat mass and a lower percent fat compared to the infants whose mothers only participated in light to moderate LTPA (Bisson et al., 2017). Although researchers did not observe decreases in infant fat mass with MPA at 17 and 36 weeks, MPA participation at 36 weeks was significantly associated with increases of fat-free mass (i.e., lean mass) when engaged in at least 90 minutes of MPA activity per week (Bisson et al., 2017). There was a similar finding in the RCT of a stationary bicycling program of moderate intensity. While no differences in infant fat mass were observed, there was an increase in fat-free mass in the infants of mothers who were in the intervention group (Hopkins et al., 2010).

*Infant ADP.* Infant air displacement plethysmography (PEA POD) (COSMED Inc, Concord, CA, USA) has become a popular alternative to measure infant body composition. The PEA POD uses air displacement plethysmography and a two-compartment model to measure body weight and volume to determine fat mass, fat-free mass, and body fat percentage based on known densities of fat (Barbour et al., 2016). Results have been conflicting using a PEA POD (Table 1). In two recent cohort studies that gathered PA by recall, differences in infant fat mass were observed between active (i.e., LTPA participation on most days of the week) and inactive mothers; however, the differences were observed at varying intensities (Dahly et al., 2018; Mudd et al., 2019). In the CORK cohort

(2018), mothers who participated in frequent MPA during early pregnancy tended to have infants with lower fat mass than women who occasionally participated in MPA or those who were inactive (Dahly et al., 2018). In contrast, a recent study by Mudd et al. (2019) found that vigorous PA during late pregnancy was associated with lower infant fat mass while moderate PA during late pregnancy was not associated with infant fat mass, which is consistent with what other studies have found (Bisson et al., 2017; Mudd et al., 2019; Pastorino et al., 2018). Even though a few studies have found decreases in fat mass with increases in PA duration and/or with higher intensities during pregnancy, a recent review suggests PA may not have an impact on infant fat mass (Davenport et al., 2018). In a study with mothers who were overweight or obese determined by prepregnancy BMI, researchers found an association between infant fat mass and maternal BMI but there was not an association with maternal leisure time PA (McCarthy et al., 2016). Researchers in The Healthy Start study (2014) observed a significant decrease in infant fat mass and subsequent increase in fat-free mass in infants of women who participated in MVPA on most days of the week plus increased their total energy expenditure in late pregnancy (Harrod et al., 2014). The findings from this study are significant as many women transition into more sedentary activities during the third trimester (Fazzi et al., 2017). Further, total energy expenditure may be a key factor contributing to lowering adiposity in the infant.

Title, Author(s) & country	Year	Trimester (weeks)	Physical A	Physical Activity Assessment			Infant Anthropometrics						
√** denotes signifi	cant dif	ference	Self-report; Accelerometer	Intervention	Intensity	Birth Weight	Birth Length	SGA	LGA	Ponderal Index	Circumferences	% Body Fat	BF Assessment
Maternal Leisure Time PABadon et al, U.S.	2016	15 wks	х		light to moderate	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	√ **		
Associations of Maternal Light/ModerateBadon et al, U.S.	2018	15 wks	х		light to moderate	√**	$\checkmark$			√ **	$\checkmark$		
Resistance Exercise Training During PregnancyBarakat, Lucia, and Ruiz, Spain	2009	12-39 wks		x	light to moderate	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		
12-week Exercise ProgramBisson et al, Canada	2015	14, 28, 36 wks	х	х	moderate	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	SF
Influence of maternal PABisson et al, Canada	2017	17 wks; 36 wks	x		MVPA	√ **		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			√ **	DXA
Neonatal MorphometricsClapp & Capeless, U.S.	1990	Preconception- 40 wks		х	moderate	√**	$\checkmark$			√ **	$\checkmark$	√ **	SF
The one-year morphometricClapp et al, U.S.	1998	Follow-up of previous study @ 1 yr		x	moderate	√**	$\checkmark$				$\checkmark$	√ **	SF
Beginning regular exerciseClapp et al, U.S.	2000	Preconception testing; program 8-40 wks		x	moderate	√**	√**			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	SF
Continuing regular exerciseClapp et al., U.S.	2002	Preconception testing; program 8-40 weeks		x	moderate	√ **	$\checkmark$					√**	SF
Influence of aerobic exerciseClark et al, U.S.	2019	16 wks-36 wks	х	Х	moderate	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	√ **		

Table 1. Literature Chart

Title, Author(s) & country	Year	Trimester (weeks)	Physical A	Infant Anthropometrics									
√** denotes signifi	cant di	ference	Self-report; Accelerometer	Intervention	Intensity	Birth Weight	Birth Length	SGA	LGA	Ponderal Index	Circumferences	% Body Fat	BF Assessment
Associations between maternal (CORK)Dahly et al, Ireland	2018	15 wks &/or 20 wks	х		light to moderate	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$					√ **	PEAPOD
A RCT of exerciseda Silva et al., Brazil	2017	16-36 wks		Х	moderate	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		
Effect of supervised exerciseGarnaes et al, Norway	2017	12-40 wks		x	moderate	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				$\checkmark$	~	SF
The Healthy Start StudyHarrod et al, U.S.	2014	17 wks, 27 wks, late pregnancy (birth)	х		light to moderate	$\checkmark$	~	√**	~		$\checkmark$	√ **	PEAPOD
Exercise Training in PregnancyHopkins et al, New Zealand	2010	20 wks - delivery		х	moderate	√ **	$\checkmark$			√ **	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	DXA
Increasing maternal parityJoshi et al, India	2005	18 wks, 28 wks	х		light to moderate	√ **	$\checkmark$				√ **	$\checkmark$	SF
Physical exercise during pregnancyJuhl et al, Denmark	2010	16 wks, 31 wks	х		light to moderate	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	√**	$\checkmark$	√**		
Parental PAMcCarthy et al., Ireland	2016	15 wks	Х		light to moderate							$\checkmark$	PEAPOD
Relations among maternal PAMudd et al, U.S.	2019	Recalled PA @ 4 yr Postpartum	х		MVPA	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$					√ **	PEAPOD
Do changing levels of maternal exerciseNorris et al, Ireland	2017	up to 15 wks & 20 wks	х		light to vigorous				√ **			√ **	PEAPOD
Association between regular exerciseOwe et al., Norway	2009	17 wks & 30 wks	х		light to moderate	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	√ **				

Table 1. (Continued)

Title, Author(s) & country	Year	Trimester (weeks)	Physical Activity Assessment			Infant Anthropometrics							
√** denotes signifi	cant dif	ference	Self-report; Accelerometer	Intervention	Intensity	Birth Weight	Birth Length	SGA	LGA	Ponderal Index	Circumferences	% Body Fat	BF Assessment
Effects of PAPrzybyłowicz K., Przybyłowicz M., Grzybiak M., & Janiszewska K., Poland	2014	Postpartum Surveys	Х		light to moderate	$\checkmark$	~			$\checkmark$			
Maternal activity in relationRao et al, India	2003	18 wks & 28 wks	х		light to moderate	√**	$\checkmark$				√ **	$\checkmark$	SF
Effects of antenatal exerciseSeneviratne et al, New Zealand	2015	20-36 wks		х	moderate	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			
Nullparity is associatedSeneviratne et al, New Zealand, RCT	2017	19-36 weeks	х	x	moderate	√**				$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	DXA
Maternal InflammationTinius, Cahill, Strand, & Cade, U.S.	2016	32-37 wks	х		light to vigorous	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	PEAPOD
PEARLSTrak-Fellermeier et al, Puerto Rico	2019	Baseline (<16 wks), (24-27 wks), (35-36 wks)		х	light to vigorous	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	√**	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	√ **	SF
DALI trialvan Poppel et al, Netherlands	2019	<20 wks-37 wks	х	х	light to vigorous	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				$\checkmark$	√ **	SF
The Influence of ObjectivelyWatson et al, South Africa	2018	14-18 wks; 29- 33 wks	х		light to vigorous	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		
Resistance Training During PregWhite, Pivarnik & Pfeiffer, U.S.	2014	Postpartum Surveys	х		light to vigorous	$\checkmark$	√**						

Table 1. (Continued)

## Physical Activity Impacts Over a Lifetime

Understanding how exercise during pregnancy impacts infant outcomes at birth could predict the health of a child in the future (Davenport et al., 2018). Although birth weight is a traditional marker for a healthy intrauterine growth environment (Clapp et al., 2000), body composition may be a more sensitive marker for health later in life as some evidence points to lower body composition during childhood (Mudd et al., 2019) and a lower risk of obesity during childhood (Kong et al., 2016; Mudd et al., 2015). Specifically, Clapp found that children of mothers who exercised during pregnancy weighed less and had less body fat at birth and at age 5 than those infants of the mothers who discontinued exercise during pregnancy (Clapp, 1996). Recently, Mudd et al. found that any amount of vigorous PA during late pregnancy was associated with a lower infant fat mass at birth and at four years old (Mudd et al., 2019); moderate PA during any trimester was not associated with fat mass at birth or at four years (Mudd et al., 2019). Identifying maternal PA as a modifying factor of infant adiposity at birth may be crucial for preventing childhood obesity and reducing the risk for developing metabolic diseases in adulthood (Belbasis et al., 2016; Chandler-Laney et al., 2013).

## Summary of the Role of PA on Neonatal Anthropometrics

Existing evidence on the role of physical activity during pregnancy on infant outcomes, specifically neonatal anthropometrics, is unclear and oftentimes conflicting. The conflicting results may be due to the lack of high-quality

methodologies and inconsistencies in physical activity assessment, the time point physical activity during pregnancy is studied, and the frequency, intensity, time, and type of exercise performed.

### The Role of Varying Exercise Parameters on Infant Outcomes

Physical Activity Assessment. For observational studies, many utilize a validated, self-report survey called the Pregnancy Physical Activity Questionnaire (PPAQ) (Chasan-Taber et al., 2004). Utilizing this questionnaire, researchers are able to identify the time women spend each day in five different activity areas-household/caregiving, occupational, sports/exercise, transportation, and in-activity to quantify their LTPA. Self-reported time spent in each activity is computed to MET minutes and the average MET hours per week are classified by type of activity and MET hours per week for each intensity level. This questionnaire is considered the most feasible option for obtaining physical activity data for a large cohort (Owe et al., 2009) and it has been validated and widely used for pregnancy research. Chasan-Taber validated the PPAQ in 2004, and the PPAQ results had modest correlations with physical activity data collected through an accelerometer worn during pregnancy (Chasan-Taber et al., 2004). The strength of the correlation varied based on the cut points and activity level. The PPAQ has become widely accepted for use during pregnancy as it has been validated, translated to many different languages, and involves activities specifically relevant to women of child-bearing age. While PA during pregnancy research relies heavily on objective and subjective measures of PA

(i.e., PPAQ), objective measurements are more accurate than even the most well-validated subjective assessments (Brett et al., 2015; Sattler et al., 2018).

Physical activity can be objectively measured in many different ways using a variety of fitness trackers and pedometers. However, the gold standard for assessing physical activity is using an accelerometer placed on the hip or the non-dominant wrist, commonly worn for an average of four to seven days. A recent study found that seven consecutive days of wrist-worn accelerometer wear time is needed to ensure compliance and gather reliable and accurate MVPA activity in pregnant women (da Silva et al., 2019). The percentage of time the wearer spends sedentary and participating in a range of activity levels (light, moderate, and vigorous) can be determined through step counts. This determination is calculated using predetermined algorithms that correspond to activity counts for each level of activity. Wrist-worn tri-axial accelerometers are an accurate assessment tool for measuring PA levels during pregnancy (van Hees et al., 2011), and provide the best compliance in order to obtain 24 hours/day wear data (van Hees et al., 2011).

Accurate PA measurement is critical to determine associations between maternal PA exposure and infant outcomes. When analyzing the cohort studies (Table 1), it is apparent that researchers have relied heavily on indirect measures of PA (i.e., self-report questionnaires or PA recall). About a third of the articles analyzed found significant associations between maternal leisure time PA and infant outcomes (Badon et al., 2018; Dahly et al., 2018; Harrod et al., 2014; Mudd et al., 2019; Norris et al., 2017). The remaining articles that subjectively
assessed PA did not find significant associations with any infant outcomes. Additionally, one of three studies that objectively assessed PA, that also utilized a DXA, found a significant association between MVPA and infant fat mass (Bisson et al., 2017). The conflicting results observed may be due to the overestimation of leisure time PA and underestimation of sedentary time in subjective PA assessment (Brett et al., 2015; Sattler et al., 2018).

**Type of Exercise.** Another key factor that may modulate the relationship between PA and infant body composition is the mode or type of exercise that pregnant women participate in. Aerobic exercise is a type of training to improve cardiorespiratory endurance and involves rhythmic whole-body exercises (American College of Sports Medicine et al., 2018). Aerobic activities that are safe for pregnancy including walking, cycling, swimming, water aerobics, dance fitness, step class with a low step height, rowing, and running (if running prior to pregnancy) (Clapp et al., 2000). Anaerobic training is defined as short, intense bouts of physical activity fueled by energy sources within contracting muscles and independent of the use of inhaled oxygen as an energy source (American College of Sports Medicine et al., 2018). These activities include sprinting, highintensity interval training (HIIT) and strength training. Resistance training aims to improve health and fitness by increasing musculoskeletal fitness (White et al., 2014). During pregnancy, utilizing relatively low weight with a higher number of repetitions appears to be the most safe and effective resistance training scheme to obtain benefits from strength training (Artal & White, S., 2003). While most

strength exercises are safe (ACOG Committee on Obstetric Practice, 2020), activities that involve lying supine or moving in a manner that puts pressure on the uterine wall, as well as those that could cause overheating, risk of blunt trauma, or risk of falling should be avoided (Wing & Stannard, 2016).

Exercises can be classified as weight bearing (WB) (i.e., walking, running, dance fitness, step class, yoga and resistance training) or non-weight bearing (NWB) (i.e., swimming, cycling, water aerobics, and rowing). Maintaining prepregnancy intensity levels of WB activities throughout pregnancy (with physician consent) is safe during pregnancy (Clapp et al., 2002); however, some women may decrease intensity of WB activities during the third trimester to accommodate pelvic discomfort and physiological changes that occur (Fazzi et al., 2017). NWB activities may be the easiest to participate in throughout pregnancy as it minimizes joint stress, reduces fluid retention and reduces risk for injury (Prather et al., 2012).

Weight-bearing activities are the most common interventions used among RCT studies and researchers have found mixed results between WB exercise and infant outcomes. Since WB activities can vary greatly by type between RCT studies, it is difficult to draw a consensus on the impact on infant outcomes. While three studies from Clapp found infants of mothers in the WB intervention group were more likely to be smaller (i.e., significantly lower fat mass, fat mass percentage and PI) (Clapp et al., 1998, 2000; Clapp & Capeless, 1990), other studies have not found differences in infant anthropometrics between those born to women in the WB intervention and control groups (Barakat et al., 2009; Bisson

et al., 2015; Clapp et al., 2002; Garnæs et al., 2017). Likewise, three RCT studies evaluated a non-WB intervention (i.e., home-based, moderate intensity, stationary bicycling program) (Hopkins et al., 2010; Seneviratne et al., 2016; Seneviratne et al., 2017). The birth weight, ponderal index and infant body composition (i.e., fat mass and fat mass percentage) were not significantly different between the infants born to mothers in the non-WB intervention and those of the control group (Hopkins et al., 2010; Seneviratne et al., 2016; Seneviratne et al., 2017).

Most observational studies and RCTs are unable to determine the effects aerobic exercise or strength training on infant outcomes because they are typically used in combination within a training program. Studies that evaluated an aerobic only intervention had mixed findings; several RCT studies found that the infants tended to be smaller from mothers of the combination (aerobic and strength training) intervention group than those of the control (Clapp et al., 1998; Clapp & Capeless, 1990; Hopkins et al., 2010; van Poppel et al., 2019). A few other studies evaluating aerobic only programs did not find any significant differences in infant anthropometrics between those infants of mothers in the intervention and those of the control (Clapp et al., 2002; Clark et al., 2019; S. Seneviratne et al., 2016; S. N. Seneviratne et al., 2017). Out of the few randomized control trials with resistance training, researchers have mostly found no correlations with infant outcomes (Barakat et al., 2009; White et al., 2014). One resistance training RCT that utilized moderate-to-vigorous intensities found that the infants of the moms in the intervention were significantly heavier (+310 g)

than those born to the control women (Fieril et al., 2015); however, the difference did not remain after controlling for gestational age. Overall, the findings indicate that resistance training during pregnancy does not induce adverse infant outcomes and appears to be a safe, appropriate form of exercise during pregnancy.

**Intensity of Exercise.** For women with healthy pregnancies, the American College of Obstetrics and Gynecology (ACOG) recommend women participate in the same physical activity guidelines set by the American College of Sports Medicine (ACSM) for a healthy general population, which is  $\geq$ 150 minutes a week of moderate-to-vigorous intensity exercise (ACOG Committee on Obstetric Practice, 2020; American College of Sports Medicine et al., 2018). All physical activities occur along a continuum of energy expenditure that can be matched with a corresponding MET (metabolic equivalent) value; one MET is equal to 3.5 mL O<sub>2</sub>/kg/min (Norton et al., 2010). Intensity of exercises can be gauged using an absolute measure (i.e., heart rate or metabolic equivalents [METs]) or a relative measure such as a percentage of age-predicted max heart rate (APMHR) which can be estimated by 220-age (Norton et al., 2010). Studies that utilized heart rate to monitor intensity defined the groupings as light: 40-55% HR<sub>max</sub>, moderate: 56-70% HR<sub>max</sub>, and vigorous: 71-85% HR<sub>max</sub>. In the cohort studies that utilized self-report/recall of PA participation during pregnancy, the self-reported time spent in each activity was computed to MET-hours and the average MET-hours at each intensity level was reported. Additionally, the cohort

studies that utilized an objective measure of PA (accelerometer) recorded activity counts and utilized cut points to define the percentages of time spent in a range of intensities (sedentary-vigorous).

Current evidence indicates there may be differing trends in infant anthropometrics with various intensities. The articles evaluated in Table 1 are labeled with the intensities that were selected during clinical trials (RCTs) and the intensity ranges evaluated for cohort studies. With moderate-intensity, one review found that moderate PA participation throughout pregnancy, birth weight may be enhanced (heavier), while more vigorous regimens (vigorous PA) may result in a lighter infant (Pivarnik, 1998). Recently, other researchers have found similar findings amongst moderate PA with increases in birth weight (Clapp et al., 2000) and vigorous PA with decreases in birth weight [adiposity] (Bisson et al., 2017; Clapp & Capeless, 1990; Mudd et al., 2019). Specifically, Clapp and Capeless found infants of mothers who continued vigorous PA throughout pregnancy were significantly lighter (-310 g) than those who participated in light to moderate intensity PA (Clapp & Capeless, 1990). Likewise, two other researchers found that mothers who participated in moderate physical activity throughout pregnancy tended to increase birth weight due to lean mass, while infants of mothers who participated in vigorous physical activity at 36 weeks had significantly less fat mass and a lower fat percentage (Bisson et al., 2017; Mudd et al., 2019). In general, recent reviews have found vigorous intensity to be favorable in reducing the risk for delivering macrosomic infants (Beetham et al., 2019; Davenport et al., 2018); however, more research is needed to determine if

the shift in infant fat mass and fat-free mass is due to intensity or from other exercise factors such as time point during pregnancy, frequency and duration.

**Frequency & Duration of Exercise.** An additional key factor that may modulate the relationship between physical activity and infant body composition is the frequency and duration of exercise that pregnant women participate in. Frequency is referred to as how many days per week or how often a pregnant woman engages in exercise within a week. Likewise, duration is considered as the length of one session or bout of physical activity ranging from 15 to 150 minutes. Intervention programs across RCT studies vary greatly in duration and frequency, many of which included supervised sessions and others that were home-based; exercise programs varied including one hour three times per week, 35-45 minutes three to five times per week and 40 minutes two to four times per week (Bisson et al., 2015; Clapp et al., 2000; Clark et al., 2019; Hopkins et al., 2010; Sklempe Kokic et al., 2018).

Considering the vast range of frequencies and durations between intervention programs, there is not a consensus for how this factor impacts infant outcomes. While some studies have evaluated the potential impact various amounts of frequency and/or duration of exercise during pregnancy has on birth weight (Barakat et al., 2016; Bisson et al., 2017; Pastorino et al., 2018), only two have evaluated the potential impact on infant body composition (Bisson et al., 2017; van Poppel et al., 2019). In a meta-analysis by Pastorino et al., the literature suggests that for each additional hour per week of moderate intensity

physical activity during late pregnancy, infant birth weight was lower by 6.4 g (Pastorino et al., 2018). Likewise, Bisson et al. looked at activity during the first trimester and found that for each 1 MET/hour/week increase in exercise, birth weight was lower by 2.5 g (Bisson et al., 2017). Another RCT study beginning in the first trimester, exercising 3 days a week, with sessions lasting 50-55 minutes to meet the exercise guidelines, observed a significant decrease in the number of macrosomic babies amongst the training group compared to the control group (Barakat et al., 2016). Bisson et al. (2017) evaluated a range of durations of moderate and vigorous intensity exercise at 17 and 36 weeks; those who participated in only moderate physical activity for >90 minutes/day at 17 & 36 weeks tended to increase birth weight due to lean mass (Bisson et al., 2017). Findings from a recent RCT were also in line with the Bisson et al. (2017) study; compared to a usual care control group, the PA intervention group that engaged in five sessions a week with a duration between 30 to 45 minutes found a significant decrease in infant fat mass and fat mass percentage (van Poppel et al., 2019). In general, it is difficult to conclude how the frequency and duration of exercise impacts infant outcomes. While the ACOG has recommended 150 minutes of PA per week for general maternal and infant benefits (ACOG Committee on Obstetric Practice, 2020), it is still unclear what the threshold is to elicit an impact on infant body composition. Recent studies have concluded that various exercise durations positively impact infant body composition (Bisson et al., 2017; van Poppel et al., 2019), future research should evaluate the clinical

threshold recommended by the ACOG and how it impacts infant body composition.

**Time Point of Exercise During Pregnancy.** Exercise during pregnancy is especially difficult to study considering how rapidly a pregnant woman's body is changing, and how these changes can influence how and when exercise is prescribed. There is no clear consensus on what time point is best to study exercise during pregnancy, and the entire nine months is too long for many study designs. Early in pregnancy, there is risk for experiencing a loss, so most RCT studies do not study women in the first trimester to avoid this risk. The majority of pregnancy studies occur during the second and/or third trimesters. However, results have to be interpreted carefully as one cannot generalize outcomes for any other timepoints beyond the ones studied (e.g. if a study shows PA during the second trimester improves infant outcomes, this cannot be generalized to PA during the first or third trimester). The timepoints for each study evaluated are listed in Table 1.

Each trimester of pregnancy serves as an important milestone of growth for a fetus. The greatest amount of physical growth occurs in the third trimester where a fetus can double in size between 28 and 32 weeks as well as gain over half-pound a week during the last month of pregnancy (*Stages of Pregnancy*, 2016). While the timepoints for each study varies, there is some evidence that exercise may have greater influence on infant outcomes during late pregnancy compared to exposure during early or mid-pregnancy (Pastorino et al., 2018).

Clapp et al. found in two separate studies that mothers who maintained >50% of pre-pregnancy exercise levels during late pregnancy (Clapp & Capeless, 1990) and those who maintained a high volume of exercise during the third trimester (Clapp et al., 2002) delivered infants who were significantly smaller (i.e., lower birth weight and decreased fat mass/fat mass percentage [skinfolds]) than those mothers who decreased exercise volume during late pregnancy. Similarly, other studies have found associations between exercise during late pregnancy and significant decreases in infant fat mass (Bisson et al., 2017; Harrod et al., 2014; Mudd et al., 2019). In essence, engaging in late pregnancy PA may have greater impacts on infant outcomes than PA during early or mid-pregnancy.

#### Gap in the Literature

Despite the evidence-based information available regarding the maternal benefits from physical activity during pregnancy, it is clear that there is not a consensus over the benefits for infants. Certainly, the lack of standardized protocols and continued use of subjective measurements for physical activity interventions contributes to the difficulty in interpreting the infant outcomes. Identifying the modifying factor(s) (i.e., frequency, intensity, duration, type, timepoint during pregnancy) will be critical in establishing the impact PA during pregnancy has on infant anthropometrics. Specifically, future studies should evaluate PA during late pregnancy and/or with varying intensities as the evidence suggests that the impact may be time-sensitive (Harrod et al., 2014; Mudd et al., 2019; Pastorino et al., 2018) and intensity-specific (Bisson et al., 2016; Clapp &

Capeless, 1990; Mudd et al., 2019; Pastorino et al., 2018). Similarly, the tools utilized to measure infant outcomes have not been standardized across studies. Because infant ADP is the new gold standard for assessing infant body composition, more research is needed to determine the role of physical activity during pregnancy on infant body composition utilizing this methodology.

The primary purpose of this study is to determine the association between objectively measured physical activity (accelerometry) during late pregnancy and infant body composition utilizing the gold standard method for body composition (PEA POD).

### **Methods**

### Participants

Healthy pregnant women with no underlying health conditions were recruited via word of mouth, in response to study flyers (Appendix A) that were posted at local obstetrics/gynecology (OB/GYN) clinics and given at local pregnancy health fairs, and a listserv email announcement was sent to institutional faculty and staff. Women between the ages of 18-44 years who had a confirmed singleton pregnancy were recruited between 34-39 weeks of gestation. Women who were experiencing a multiple gestation pregnancy, had pre-existing health conditions that prohibited physical activity, physician clearance withheld, deliveries before 37 weeks of gestation, and those who were not delivering at The Medical Center at Bowling Green, were excluded from the study.

### Procedures **Procedures**

All study procedures were approved by the Institutional Review Board of Western Kentucky University (IRB 16-229). The participants were each given a written informed consent and a written informed assent for infants (Appendix B) prior to the hospital visit for infant measurements. In order to ensure the safety of all participants, physician clearance was required for participation (Appendix C). The participants received compensation after completing the surveys (\$10) and after infant anthropometrics were obtained (\$25).

### Physical Activity and Survey Data Collection

Pregnant women were contacted between 34-39 weeks gestation and met individually with a study team member to gather demographic data and complete a series of surveys. The first survey was the General Demographics Survey (Appendix D) which provides basic information on the participant's age, parity, weight/height, socioeconomic status, race, educational background, and baseline current physical activity level. Physical activity levels were further assessed using the Pregnancy Physical Activity Questionnaire PPAQ (Chasan-Taber et al., 2004)(Appendix E) and through a wrist-worn ActiGraph GT9X Link Accelerometer (ActiGraph LLC, Pensacola, FL). The PPAQ is a validated, semiquantitative questionnaire for pregnant women to classify their time spent participating in 32 different activities per day across five different categorieshousehold/caregiving, occupational, sports/exercise, transportation, and inactivity (Chasan-Taber et al., 2004). Self-reported time spent in each activity is computed to MET hours and the average MET hours per week were classified by type of activity and intensity level.

The ActiGraph GT9X link accelerometer was given to the participant after survey completion to objectively measure physical activity levels. Wrist-worn triaxial accelerometers are an accurate assessment tool for measuring physical activity levels during pregnancy (da Silva et al., 2019; Freedson et al., 1998) and can provide the best compliance in order to obtain 24 hours/day wear data (van Hees et al., 2011). The ActiGraph accelerometer was worn by the participant on their non-dominant wrist for 24 hours/day over seven consecutive days. Data

was collected at 30 Hz and through the ActiLife software (v6.13.4, ActiGraph LLC, Pensacola, FL), the percentage of time spent sedentary and participating in a range of activity levels (light, moderate, and vigorous) was determined. This determination was calculated using predetermined algorithms that correspond to activity counts for each level of activity: sedentary: 0-99 counts/min, light: 100-1951 counts/min, moderate: 1952-5724 counts/min (Freedson et al., 1998). In addition to the activity counts, the average kcals per day was recorded for total energy expenditure and the percent of time in moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA) to identify those mothers who met the ACSM guidelines of ≥150 minutes of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity per week.

### Infant Measurements

Infant anthropometrics were collected following the *Infant Measurement Protocol* (Appendix F) between 24-48 hours after birth at the participant's bedside at The Medical Center at Bowling Green. Taking infant measurements at the participant's bedside before the mom/baby are discharged allows for mom/baby to adjust to birth while minimizing drop out and the effects of the environment (i.e. feeding practices) on the infant birth weight since the two-week period following birth has the greatest amount of fluctuations in birth weight (Crossland et al., 2008). Abdominal and head circumferences (Gulick II Tape Measure, Country Technology Inc., Gays Mills, WI) were measured and recorded using well-established protocols (Johnson & Engstrom, 2002). Skinfold anthropometry was then performed to estimate the infant's body fat percentage.

Folds of the skin at four sites-triceps, subscapular, thigh, and hip- were measured by lifting the skin with the thumb and index finger and the thickness of each fold was pressed with a caliper (Harpenden Skinfold Caliper, Baty International, United Kingdom) twice and recorded. If there was a difference greater than 2mm between two measurements, a third measure was taken. Two measurements in agreement were averaged and used for analysis using the standardized equation based on the infant's gender, ethnicity, age and birth weight (Deierlein et al., 2012) to estimate fat mass.

Fat mass(kg) = -0.012 - 0.064 × gender + 0.024 × postnatal age(days) - 0.150 × weight(kg) + 0.055 × weight(kg)<sup>2</sup> + 0.046 × ethnicity + 0.020 × ∑ 3 skinfolds (mm)
\*Boys=1, girls=0; ethnicity non-Hispanic=0; skinfolds=triceps, subscapular, thigh
Fat-free mass was calculated by subtracting the estimated fat mass from birth
weight. Percent body fat and percent fat-free mass was found by dividing fat
mass/fat-free mass respectively by birth weight and multiplying by 100.

Infant adiposity was then assessed by air-displacement plethysmography (ADP) using the PEA POD (COSMED Inc, Concord, CA, USA) which is now regarded as the neonatal gold standard method for measuring body composition changes (Barbour et al., 2016; F. P. McCarthy et al., 2016). The PEA POD is a reliable measure and has been validated in infants against the four-compartment model (Ellis et al., 2007). Infant ADP (PEA POD) has increased in widespread use as it is simple to use, fast, and doesn't require an infant to lie still. ADP takes about five minutes to complete an assessment that uses direct measures of body mass with a precise scale divided by estimated body volume through air-

displacement in an enclosed, air-tight chamber, to find body density. Percent body fat can be calculated based on assumed densities of fat mass and fat-free mass using the two-compartment model of body composition.

### Statistical Analysis

Data was collected, stored, and managed using Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap), hosted at Western Kentucky University. All data analyses were conducted using SPSS Statistics 25.0 (IBM, 2009, Armonk, New York). Normality of the distribution for each variable was tested using Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests. All non-normally distributed data was log-transformed. Pearson product-moment correlation coefficients were performed to assess the degree of the relationship between variables. Partial correlations were used to adjust for potential confounders. When looking at differences between various groups, Ttests or Chi-square tests were used to assess differences between groups. The p-value was set at 0.05 to denote statistical significance.

## **Results**

## Maternal Physical Activity

Maternal demographics are shown in Table 2.

## Table 2. Maternal Demographics

	Maternal Characteristics (n=55)
Age (years)	30.8±4.5
Pre-pregnancy height (cm)	166.2±6.9
Pre-pregnancy weight (kg)	70.8±18.2
Pre-pregnancy BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	25.8±6.4
Gestational Weight Gain (kg)	15.0±6.3
Household Income (\$)	91,500±48,600
Parity Nulliparous Multiparous	23 (42%) 32 (58%)
Ethnicity Caucasian African American Asian	49 (89%) 5 (9%) 1 (2%)
Education High School Some College Trade/Vocational School College Degree Post-Graduate Degree	2 (4%) 3 (5%) 2 (4%) 22 (40%) 26 (47%)
Current Exercise at Baseline None Once a week 2-3 times/week 4-5 times/week Everyday	16 (29%) 13 (24%) 15 (27%) 8 (15%) 3 (5%)

Of the 55 women that participated, only 51 had valid ActiGraph data (Table 3). According to the objective measure of PA (ActiGraph), the women in the study primarily engaged in various amounts of light PA, spent more time in sedentary activities, and did not engage in any vigorous activities. The women reported on the PPAQ that they spent the majority of their time during the week in light-to-moderate activities; by category the activities women participated in were mostly household work and very little time in sports and exercise activities. Comparing the two measures, the women reported (PPAQ) that they spent less time sedentary and more time in light-to-moderate activities which was not reflected by the PA data recorded by the objective measure (ActiGraph).

PPAQ	Mean Time (n=55)	ActiGraph	Mean % Time (n=51)
Inactivity Sedentary activity/week	12.6±11.8 7.8±7.4	% time sedentary	54.94±11.1
Light activity/week	120.3±46.8	% time light	33.56±8.9
Moderate activity/week	282.9±1611	% time moderate	11.49±4.7
Vigorous activity/week	2.7±5.6	% time vigorous	0±0
Total light activity & above	188.1±100	% MVPA	11.49±4.7
Total activity/week	195.7±92.5	Average kcal/day	1482.67±634.3
Transportation Occupational Household & Caregiving Sports & Exercise	24.4±19.6 64.6±67.1 84.3±55.5 9.8±9.5		

 Table 3. Late-Pregnancy Physical Activity

Age was positively correlated to MVPA (r=0.373, p=0.007). Women with a greater household income tended to be less sedentary (% Sedentary Time ActiGraph: r=-0.357, p=0.020; Sedentary Time PPAQ: r=-0.483, p=0.001) and more active (% Moderate Activity ActiGraph: r=0.420, p=0.006; % MVPA ActiGraph r=0.420, p=0.006). While women with a higher education level tended to be less sedentary (% Sedentary Time ActiGraph: r=-0.387, p=0.005), there was not a significant correlation between education level and moderate to vigorous physical activity participation (% MVPA ActiGraph r=0.27, p=0.054).

The physical activity data collected by the PPAQ and the ActiGraph did not correlate well at any intensity level (i.e., sedentary/sedentary, light/light, moderate/moderate); Sedentary (r=-0.094, p=0.512) is shown in Figure 1; Light (r=-0.021, p=0.884) shown in Figure 2; Moderate (r=0.031, p=0.831) shown in Figure 3. In the figures below (Figures 1-3), the unit measures vary to accompany the range of data collected.



Figure 1. Sedentary Time Correlation

*Note.* Sedentary activity measures did not correlate; r=-0.094, p=0.512

Figure 2. Light Activity Correlation



Note. Light activity measures did not correlate; r=-0.021, p=0.884



Figure 3. Moderate Activity Correlation

Note. Moderate activity measures did not correlate; r=0.031, p=0.831

# Infant Outcomes

Infant demographic and anthropometric data are shown in Table 4.

# Table 4. Infant Demographics & Anthropometrics

	Infant Demographics & Anthropometrics (n=55)
Infant Age at Measurement (davs)	1.3±0.7
Infant Gestational Age (weeks)	39.5±1.1
Delivery Method Vaginal Cesarean	35 (73%) 13 (27%)
Infant Gender <i>Male</i> <i>Female</i>	25 (46%) 30 (54%)
Birth Weight (kg)	3.4±0.5
Birth Length (cm)	50.7±6.2
Circumferences (cm) Head Abdominal	34.3±9.5 33.5±8.8
Skin Folds Average (mm) Triceps Subscapular Hip Thigh	5.2±1.7 4.4±1.05 3.6±1.2 6.3±1.8
SF Estimated Body Fat %	15.04±4.2
PEA POD % Body fat % Fat-free mass	13.4±3.9
Fat mass (kg)	86.2±5.2
Fat-free mass (kg)	0.47±0.2
Rody mass (kg)	2.9±0.4
Body volume	3.3±0.0
Body density	3.2±0.0
Fat mass density	$1.04\pm0.009$
Fat-free mass density	1 06±0 002
Rody surface area	1.00±0.002
Thoracic gas volume	2300±233.9
inoracie gas volume	0.1±0.016

There were no significant correlations in infant percent body fat (PEA POD) between categories of baseline self-reported physical activity levels (Figure 4; p=0.995). There were no significant correlations between infant percent body fat (PEA POD) and late-pregnancy activity levels measured objectively with the ActiGraph [(Sedentary, Figure 5, r=-0.072, p=0.756) (Light, Figure 6, r=-0.002, p=0.990)(Moderate, Figure 7, r=0.208, p=0.367)(MVPA, Figure 8, r=0.203, p=0.377)], even after controlling for infant's gestational age, gestational weight gain, pre-pregnancy BMI, and parity.



Figure 4. % Body Fat by Baseline Activity Levels



% Body Fat not significantly different between groups; p=0.995.



Figure 5. % Body Fat by ActiGraph Sedentary Time

*Note.* % Body Fat did not correlate; r=-0.072, p=0.756

Figure 6. % Body Fat by ActiGraph Light Activity



Note. % Body Fat did not correlate; r=-0.002, p=0.990



Figure 7. % Body Fat by ActiGraph Moderate Activity

*Note.* % Body Fat did not correlate; r=0.208, p=0.367

Figure 8. % Body Fat by ActiGraph MVPA



Note. % Body Fat did not correlate; r=0.203, p=0.377

When pulling out the most active mothers (Figure 9), there was no difference between the most active women and the rest of the participants in terms of infant body composition (%MVPA, ActiGraph) (p=0.252). There was also no significant difference in infant body composition when grouping and comparing the most sedentary women to everyone else (Figure 10, p=0.568). When comparing the most sedentary (% Sedentary, ActiGraph) and most active women (%MVPA, ActiGraph), there was not a significant difference in infant body composition (Figure 11, p=0.377).









Note. ActiGraph; % Body Fat not significantly different, p=0.568

Figure 11. Most Active vs. Least Active



Note. ActiGraph; % Body Fat not significantly different, p=0.377

### Ancillary Findings

Women who had a vaginal delivery delivered infants with a higher percentage of body fat (PEA POD) (Figure 12, p=0.040). This was also observed for birth weight in that infants born through a vaginal birth tended to be heavier (Figure 13, p=0.002). Infants born through a cesarean section delivery were on average were born a week earlier than those born through vaginal birth. However, even after controlling for the infant's gestation age, both the birth weight and percent body fat remained significantly different between infants born vaginally versus infants born via Cesarean.



Figure 12. % Body Fat by Delivery Method

Note. \*p<0.05 significance between groups, p=0.040

Figure 13. Birth Weight by Delivery Method



*Note.* \*p<0.05 significance between groups, p=0.002

There were no significant differences in percentage of infant body fat (PEA POD) between males and females ( $12.9 \pm 3.8\%$  vs.  $13.8 \pm 4.0\%$ , p=0.730). No significant difference in infant percent body fat (PEA POD) was observed between women of different ethnicities (p=0.217). Women who had other children tended to have babies with a larger percentage of body fat (PEA POD) ( $14.2 \pm 3.9\%$  vs.  $12.3 \pm 3.8\%$ , p=0.088). Infants born Large-for-Gestation Age (LGA) had a trend towards higher percent of body fat (PEA POD) but it was not statistically significant ( $15.57 \pm 2.04$  vs.  $13.06 \pm 4.02$ , p=0.142).

Figure 14. % Body Fat by Infant Gender



*Note. Girls* 13.8 ± 4.0% vs. *Boys* 12.9 ± 3.8%, p=0.730







Figure 16. % Body Fat by Parity



Note. Nulliparous 12.3  $\pm$  3.8% vs. Multiparous 14.2  $\pm$  3.9%, p=0.088





*Note. LGA* 15.57 ± 2.04 *vs. Normal BW* 13.06 ± 4.02, p=0.142

Other infant anthropometrics measured at birth correlated well with the percent of body fat measurements from the PEA POD, shown in Table 5. The percentage of infant body fat (PEA POD) did not correlate with other maternal demographics.

	% Body Fat (PEA POD)
	Correlations
Birth weight	(r=0.384, p=0.004)
Infant head circumference	(r=0.369, p=0.007)
Infant abdominal circumference	(r=0.275, p=0.049)
Skinfolds	
Tricep	(r=0.338, p=0.012)
Subscapular	(r=0.442, p<0.001)
Hip	(r=0.467, p<0.001)
Thigh	(r=0.350, p=0.010)
% Body fat	(r=0.523, p<0.001)
Pre-pregnancy weight	(r=-0.177, p=0.200)
Pre-pregnancy BMI	(r=-0.231, p=0.096)
Maternal pregnancy end-weight	(r=-0.159, p=0.250)
Gestational weight gain	(r=0.126, p=0.362)

## **Table 5. PEA POD Correlations**

### **Discussion**

### Maternal Physical Activity

The aim of this study was to determine the association between maternal physical activity during late pregnancy and infant anthropometrics at birth. We did not observe any significant correlations between late pregnancy maternal physical activity levels (sedentary, light, moderate) assessed via accelerometry and PPAQ with infant body composition (PEA POD), even after controlling for infant's gestational age, gestational weight gain, pre-pregnancy BMI, and parity. Further, when the most sedentary women and most active women were compared, there were no significant differences observed in infant body fat percentage (PEA POD). In addition, there were secondary findings concerning infant body composition which included: infants born vaginally were heavier and tended to have a higher percentage of body fat (PEA POD) than those infants who were delivered by cesarean section (C/S); infants born Large-for-Gestation Age (LGA) had a higher percentage of body fat (PEA POD) but this finding was not statistically significant; with regard to parity, infants second (or higher) in the birth order tended to have a higher percentage of body fat (PEA POD).

Physical activity was assessed through self-report (PPAQ) and accelerometer (ActiGraph); however, the data did not correlate well between measures at any intensity level (i.e., sedentary vs. sedentary, light vs. light, moderate vs. moderate). While the PPAQ is commonly used across the literature, it has been found to overestimate leisure time PA across all activity categories (Brett et al., 2015). Likewise, an accelerometer is known to be the

gold standard for objectively measuring free-living PA (Troiano et al., 2014) and has been found to be a more reliable and accurate method for assessing MVPA during pregnancy (da Silva et al., 2019). Therefore, we utilized the accelerometer data for analyzing PA correlations with infant anthropometrics.

### Infant Anthropometric Outcomes

### Main Findings

Contrary to our hypothesis, there were no significant correlations between maternal physical activity during late pregnancy and infant anthropometrics. Even after controlling for maternal gestational weight gain, pre-pregnancy BMI, parity, and infant's gestational age, there were no significant correlations observed between infant percent body fat (PEA POD) and late-pregnancy PA levels (i.e., sedentary, light, MVPA).

Our findings are consistent with previous studies that have also not observed significant differences in infant anthropometrics between active and inactive women (or no association between maternal pregnancy PA levels and infant body composition) (Bisson et al., 2015; Joshi et al., 2005; Rao et al., 2003; Seneviratne et al., 2017; Tinius et al., 2016). The fact that maternal physical activity levels did not appear to correlate well with infant adiposity may suggest the baby is protected from some aspects of maternal stimuli (whether positive or negative). To elaborate, previous research suggests that increasing regular exercise (up to an undetermined threshold) throughout pregnancy may provide a protective effect against infant birth weight extremes (Clapp & Capeless, 1990;

Owe et al., 2009). The protective effect may ensure a birth weight within the normal range (i.e., 2500 - 4000 g) occurs to aid in delivery. Specifically, the literature suggests that moderate PA may help decrease birth weight in the upper extremes (LGA) with increases in regular PA throughout pregnancy (Owe et al., 2009) while subsequently decreasing the rate of birth weights in the lower extremes (SGA)(Clapp & Capeless, 1990). However, previous research has found a trend that increasing total volumes of higher intensity may lead to a higher risk of an infant born SGA (Harrod et al., 2014; Trak-Fellermeier et al., 2019); yet, the specific threshold where the PA trend shifts from protective to increased risk for SGA has not been determined. These data provide insight to the complicated relationship between maternal activity and infant anthropometrics; assuming a linear relationship is likely oversimplifying this relationship.

In our study, we speculate that the trend of a protective effect against birth weight extremes may be present in our findings as the majority of the women appeared to participate in light-to-moderate PA during late pregnancy and we observed six infants with LGA and none with SGA. In turn, the trend observed could suggest a positive/favorable effect of physical activity on birth weight.

While our results are consistent with some of the previous literature, there are several other studies with similar methodologies that have found a significant decrease in infant percent body fat with increases in maternal physical activity (Bisson et al., 2017; Clapp & Capeless, 1990; Harrod et al., 2014; Mudd et al., 2019; Trak-Fellermeier et al., 2019; van Poppel et al., 2019). Our study design

differed from these studies by time point during pregnancy, cohort design rather than an intervention, method for collecting physical activity data (if it was not an intervention) and the method for assessing infant body composition.

Although previous researchers have suggested that the modifying factor may be late pregnancy PA (Pastorino et al., 2018; Pivarnik, 1998), some of the studies found differences in infant body composition associated with PA during early pregnancy (15-20 weeks)(Bisson et al., 2017; Dahly et al., 2018; Norris et al., 2017). However, these differences were only significant at higher intensities of PA and with longer durations for each bout of PA. Therefore, we speculate our results did not align with the CORK Cohort Study (2018), even though both collected PA data during late pregnancy, as a result of the women in our study not reaching a higher intensity of PA (Dahly et al., 2018).

In regard to study design, there were some studies that completed an intervention program and found differences in infant body composition (Clapp & Capeless, 1990; Trak-Fellermeier et al., 2019; van Poppel et al., 2019) while others have not (Clapp et al., 2000; Garnæs et al., 2017; Hopkins et al., 2010). Although a cohort design allows for free-living PA to be reported and/or recorded in addition to sports and exercise leisure-time PA, a randomized control trial that implements an intervention may be able to pinpoint specific PA modifying factors (i.e., duration, frequency, type, intensity) and determine a direct causal relationship between exercise and infant body composition. Due to the lack of consistency across intervention methods it is still difficult to determine the modifying factor/s responsible for the infant body composition differences. With

the cohort design of our study, we are not able to directly determine the cause of not observing a trend; however, we speculate that our results may be in line with the findings from the study by Hopkins el al. in that moderate PA during pregnancy may not significantly impact infant body fat percentage composition (Hopkins et al., 2010).

Our methods were similar to the Healthy Start Study (2014) with the exception of our study utilizing an additional PA assessment through an accelerometer (Harrod et al., 2014). Comparing the PPAQ data from the Healthy Start Study (2014) to ours, the women accumulated similar amounts of METhours/week during late pregnancy in each category and intensity level. However, our accelerometer data did not reflect the same PA time at higher intensities and during sedentary activities. Currently, no accelerometer cut points have been specifically developed for pregnant women. We speculate that a difference in infant body composition may not have been observed in our study due to the lack of sensitivity of the cut points to PA intensity levels during pregnancy. For example, our accelerometer data suggests none of our participants did vigorous activity, yet, several reported doing things such as running, which would likely be vigorous for a pregnant woman. These inconsistencies force us to scrutinize the way the accelerometer is deciding what is vigorous for a pregnant woman, which may be very different from the general population.

Taken together, these findings are encouraging that PA during pregnancy, at the least, does not appear to have a harmful impact on infant body composition, which is important to demonstrate. However, future research is

needed to continue investigating moderate-to-vigorous PA during late pregnancy through objective measures to distinguish a more reliable cut point for pregnancy since the current literature suggests that intensity may be the modifying factor of infant body composition (Bisson et al., 2017; Clapp & Capeless, 1990; Pastorino et al., 2018). Additionally, future studies should consider focusing studies on the recommended threshold of 150 minutes per week of moderate activity (ACOG); this has been an established threshold for other clinical outcomes, but it has not been well-studied in terms of infant body composition.

### Ancillary Findings

Interestingly, we found women who had a vaginal birth tended to deliver significantly heavier infants with a higher percentage of body fat at birth than those delivered by cesarean section, even when controlling for gestation age at birth. Over the course of vaginal parturition, infants must be able to withstand mechanical forces, transient hypoxia and stress hormone surges for prolonged periods of time (Tribe et al., 2018). Previous literature suggests that infants are able to withstand prolonged periods of hypoxia through circulatory and metabolic adaptations that have yet to be fully elucidated (Newby et al., 2015). During pregnancy, exercise may produce a similar environment to labor over a shorter period of time by temporarily reducing blood flow and improving placental functional capacity (Clapp et al., 2000). Overtime, the increase of the placenta's functional capacity improves nutritional delivery and supports greater fetal growth. We speculate that those mothers who participated in exercise
throughout pregnancy may have improved placenta development and therefore, improved overall growth of the infant which could then allow the infant to withstand the stress of a vaginal delivery.

Regarding parity, women who were multiparous tended to deliver infants with a higher percentage of body fat than the infants delivered from nulliparous women. This trend is consistent with the findings from previous studies (Bennett & Kearney, 2020; Joshi et al., 2005). While it appears that infant adiposity increases with parity (Harvey et al., 2007), it is critical to not assume this trend will be observed in consecutive births as maternal physiological factors are independent determinants of infant anthropometrics and potentially differs between consecutive births.

## Strengths and Limitations

A major strength of the study was the use of the new gold standard for infant body composition assessment, air-displacement plethysmography (PEA POD). Utilizing this method in research gives more reliable infant body composition assessment and may be more sensitive to the shifts in infant anthropometrics that have been reported previously. Additionally, utilizing an objective measure of PA (accelerometry) with the self-report questionnaire (PPAQ) allowed for more accurate PA data that is free from potential self-report bias.

Despite the strengths in the present study there were also limitations. Due to the nature of the observational study design, this current study could not

62

determine causal inferences between maternal PA and infant anthropometrics. Likewise, the lack of a cut point for accelerometer data determined for use in pregnancy could be a limitation for our study. Additionally, paternal physical activity and demographic information was not collected during gestation. It could be expected that an infant's outcome will reflect the genetic and environmental exposures that occurred during conception and throughout pregnancy, which in turn could influence adiposity at birth as well as obesity and other related metabolic disease factors later in life.

Another limitation for our study was the population of women surveyed was highly educated (87% of the women surveyed had a college degree or postgraduate degree). Although a significant correlation was not observed between education level and moderate-to-vigorous PA participation, it could be argued that these women have a greater understanding of the health benefits of exercise (i.e., greater health literacy) which may distort their ability to accurately recall and report the duration and/or intensity of activities participated in during late pregnancy (Cutler & Lleras-Muney, 2010). Further, this trend was observed in our results as the women who had achieved a higher education level were more likely to have a greater household income, tend to spend less time sedentary and be more active. Some speculation for this occurrence is that in addition to their potential for greater health literacy than those with a lower education level (Rudd, 2007), a greater household income may afford some women time (i.e., only work one job with set hours) and/or access to resources (i.e., facilities/equipment/programs for PA) which could enable them to be more

63

active. Due to the women in our population having a higher socio-economic status and greater educational attainment, the results from our study should not be generalized to the broader population.

# <u>Conclusion</u>

Overall, the purpose of this study was to examine the association between physical activity during late pregnancy and infant anthropometric outcomes at birth utilizing the new gold standard method for body composition (PEA POD). The findings from this study suggests that maternal physical activity during late pregnancy does not compromise infant anthropometric outcomes at birth in normal/healthy pregnancies. Moreover, this study further supports the growing body of literature that maternal physical activity during late pregnancy does not appear to be harmful, and may be beneficial, to infant development.

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

ACOG Committee on Obstetric Practice. (2020). Physical Activity and Exercise During Pregnancy and the Postpartum Period: ACOG Committee Opinion, Number 804. *Obstetrics & Gynecology*, *135*(4), e178–e188.

https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.00000000003772

- American College of Sports Medicine, Riebe, D., Ehrman, J. K., Liguori, G., & Magal, M. (2018). ACSM's guidelines for exercise testing and prescription.
- Artal, R., & White, S. (2003). Guidelines of the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists for exercise during pregnancy and the postpartum period. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *37*(1), 6–12. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsm.37.1.6
- Badon, S. E., Littman, A. J., Chan, K. C. G., Williams, M. A., & Enquobahrie, D. A. (2018).
  Associations of Maternal Light/Moderate Leisure-Time Walking and Yoga With
  Offspring Birth Size. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 15(6), 430–439.
  https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.2017-0187
- Badon, S. E., Wander, P. L., Qiu, C., Miller, R. S., Williams, M. A., & Enquobahrie, D. A.
  (2016). Maternal Leisure Time Physical Activity and Infant Birth Size: *Epidemiology*, 27(1), 74–81. https://doi.org/10.1097/EDE.000000000000399
- Barakat, R, Lucia, A., & Ruiz, J. R. (2009). Resistance exercise training during pregnancy and newborn's birth size: A randomised controlled trial. *International Journal Of Obesity*, 33, 1048.
- Barakat, Ruben, Franco, E., Perales, M., López, C., & Mottola, M. F. (2018). Exercise during pregnancy is associated with a shorter duration of labor. A randomized

clinical trial. *European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology, 224,* 33–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejogrb.2018.03.009

- Barakat, Ruben, Pelaez, M., Cordero, Y., Perales, M., Lopez, C., Coteron, J., & Mottola,
  M. F. (2016). Exercise during pregnancy protects against hypertension
  and macrosomia: Randomized clinical trial. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 214(5), 649.e1-649.e8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2015.11.039
- Barakat, Ruben, Pelaez, M., Lopez, C., Montejo, R., & Coteron, J. (2012). Exercise during pregnancy reduces the rate of cesarean and instrumental deliveries: Results of a randomized controlled trial. *The Journal of Maternal-Fetal & Neonatal Medicine*, *25*(11), 2372–2376. https://doi.org/10.3109/14767058.2012.696165
- Barbour, L. A., Hernandez, T. L., Reynolds, R. M., Reece, M. S., Chartier-Logan, C.,
  Anderson, M. K., Kelly, T., Friedman, J. E., & Van Pelt, R. E. (2016). Striking
  Differences in Estimates of Infant Adiposity by New and Old DXA Software,
  PEAPOD and Skinfolds at Two Weeks and One Year of Life. *Pediatric Obesity*,
  11(4), 264–271. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijpo.12055
- Beetham, K. S., Giles, C., Noetel, M., Clifton, V., Jones, J. C., & Naughton, G. (2019). The effects of vigorous intensity exercise in the third trimester of pregnancy: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, *19*(1), 281. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-019-2441-1
- Belbasis, L., Savvidou, M. D., Kanu, C., Evangelou, E., & Tzoulaki, I. (2016). Birth weight in relation to health and disease in later life: An umbrella review of systematic

reviews and meta-analyses. BMC Medicine, 14(1), 147.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-016-0692-5

- Bennett, A. E., & Kearney, J. M. (2020). Maternal sociodemographic and health
  behaviours associated with adiposity in infants as measured by air displacement
  plethysmography. *Early Human Development*, *140*, 104887.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2019.104887
- Bisson, M., Tremblay, F., St-Onge, O., Robitaille, J., Pronovost, E., Simonyan, D., & Marc,
  I. (2017). Influence of maternal physical activity on infant's body composition. *Pediatric Obesity*, *12 Suppl 1*, 38–46. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijpo.12174
- Bisson, Michèle, Alméras, N., Dufresne, S. S., Robitaille, J., Rhéaume, C., Bujold, E.,
  Frenette, J., Tremblay, A., & Marc, I. (2015). A 12-Week Exercise Program for
  Pregnant Women with Obesity to Improve Physical Activity Levels: An Open
  Randomised Preliminary Study. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(9), e0137742.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0137742

- Bisson, Michèle, Croteau, J., Guinhouya, B. C., Bujold, E., Audibert, F., Fraser, W. D., & Marc, I. (2017). Physical activity during pregnancy and infant's birth weight:
  Results from the 3D Birth Cohort. *BMJ Open Sport & Exercise Medicine*, *3*(1), e000242. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjsem-2017-000242
- Bisson, Michèle, Lavoie-Guénette, J., Tremblay, A., & Marc, I. (2016). Physical Activity Volumes during Pregnancy: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies Assessing the Association with Infant's Birth Weight.

American Journal of Perinatology Reports, 06(02), e170–e197.

https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0036-1583169

- Brett, K. E., Wilson, S., Ferraro, Z. M., & Adamo, K. B. (2015). Self-report Pregnancy Physical Activity Questionnaire overestimates physical activity. *Canadian Journal* of Public Health, 106(5), e297–e302. https://doi.org/10.17269/cjph.106.4938
- Cauble, J. S., Dewi, M., & Hull, H. R. (2017). Validity of anthropometric equations to estimate infant fat mass at birth and in early infancy. *BMC Pediatrics*, *17*(1), 88. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12887-017-0844-6
- Chandler-Laney, P. C., Gower, B. A., & Fields, D. A. (2013). Gestational and early life influences on infant body composition at 1 year: Gestational and Early Life Influences. *Obesity*, *21*(1), 144–148. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.20236
- Chasan-Taber, L., Schmidt, M. D., Roberts, D. E., Hosmer, D., Markenson, G., & Freedson,
  P. S. (2004a). Development and Validation of a Pregnancy Physical Activity
  Questionnaire: *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, *36*(10), 1750–1760.
  https://doi.org/10.1249/01.MSS.0000142303.49306.0D
- Chasan-Taber, L., Schmidt, M. D., Roberts, D. E., Hosmer, D., Markenson, G., & Freedson,
  P. S. (2004b). Development and Validation of a Pregnancy Physical Activity
  Questionnaire: *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, *36*(10), 1750–1760.
  https://doi.org/10.1249/01.MSS.0000142303.49306.0D
- Chasan-Taber, L., Schmidt, M. D., Roberts, D. E., Hosmer, D., Markenson, G., & Freedson, P. S. (2004c). Development and Validation of a Pregnancy Physical Activity

Questionnaire: *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, *36*(10), 1750–1760. https://doi.org/10.1249/01.MSS.0000142303.49306.0D

- Cho, W. K., & Suh, B.-K. (2016). Catch-up growth and catch-up fat in children born small for gestational age. *Korean Journal of Pediatrics*, *59*(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.3345/kjp.2016.59.1.1
- Clapp, J. F. (1996). Morphometric and neurodevelopmental outcome at age five years of the offspring of women who continued to exercise regularly throughout pregnancy. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, *129*(6), 856–863. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-3476(96)70029-x
- Clapp, James F., & Capeless, E. L. (1990). Neonatal morphometrics after endurance exercise during pregnancy. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, *163*(6), 1805–1811. https://doi.org/10.1016/0002-9378(90)90754-U
- Clapp, James F., Kim, H., Burciu, B., & Lopez, B. (2000). Beginning regular exercise in early pregnancy: Effect on fetoplacental growth. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, *183*(6), 1484–1488. https://doi.org/10.1067/mob.2000.107096
- Clapp, James F., Kim, H., Burciu, B., Schmidt, S., Petry, K., & Lopez, B. (2002). Continuing regular exercise during pregnancy: Effect of exercise volume on fetoplacental growth. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, *186*(1), 142–147. https://doi.org/10.1067/mob.2002.119109
- Clapp, James F., Lopez, B., & Harcar-Sevcik, R. (1999). Neonatal behavioral profile of the offspring of women who continued to exercise regularly throughout pregnancy.

American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 180(1), 91–94.

https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9378(99)70155-9

- Clapp, James F., Simonian, S., Lopez, B., Appleby-Wineberg, S., & Harcar-Sevcik, R.
   (1998). The one-year morphometric and neurodevelopmental outcome of the offspring of women who continued to exercise regularly throughout pregnancy.
   *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, *178*(3), 594–599.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9378(98)70444-2
- Clark, E., Isler, C., Strickland, D., McMillan, A. G., Fang, X., Kuehn, D., Ravisankar, S., Strom, C., & May, L. E. (2019). Influence of aerobic exercise on maternal lipid levels and offspring morphometrics. *International Journal of Obesity*, 43(3), 594– 602. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41366-018-0258-z
- Crossland, D., Richmond, S., Hudson, M., Smith, K., & Abu-Harb, M. (2008). Weight change in the term baby in the first 2 weeks of life. *Acta Paediatrica*, *97*(4), 425– 429. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1651-2227.2008.00685.x
- Cutler, D. M., & Lleras-Muney, A. (2010). Understanding differences in health behaviors by education. *Journal of Health Economics*, *29*(1), 1–28.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhealeco.2009.10.003

da Silva, S. G., Evenson, K. R., Ekelund, U., da Silva, I. C. M., Domingues, M. R., da Silva, B.
G. C., Mendes, M. de A., Cruz, G. I. N., & Hallal, P. C. (2019). How many days are needed to estimate wrist-worn accelerometry-assessed physical activity during the second trimester in pregnancy? *PLoS ONE*, *14*(6). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0211442

Dahly, D. L., Li, X., Smith, H. A., Khashan, A. S., Murray, D. M., Kiely, M. E., O'B

Hourihane, J., McCarthy, F. P., Kenny, L. C., Kearney;, P. M., & the SCOPE Ireland cohort study and the Cork BASELINE Birth cohort study. (2018). Associations between maternal lifestyle factors and neonatal body composition in the Screening for Pregnancy Endpoints (Cork) cohort study. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *47*(1), 131–145. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyx221

Davenport, M. H., Meah, V. L., Ruchat, S.-M., Davies, G. A., Skow, R. J., Barrowman, N.,
Adamo, K. B., Poitras, V. J., Gray, C. E., Jaramillo Garcia, A., Sobierajski, F., Riske,
L., James, M., Kathol, A. J., Nuspl, M., Marchand, A.-A., Nagpal, T. S., Slater, L. G.,
Weeks, A., ... Mottola, M. F. (2018). Impact of prenatal exercise on neonatal and
childhood outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *52*(21), 1386–1396. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2018099836

Deierlein, A. L., Thornton, J., Hull, H., Paley, C., & Gallagher, D. (2012). An anthropometric model to estimate neonatal fat mass using air displacement plethysmography. *Nutrition & Metabolism*, 9(1), 21. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-7075-9-21

Demerath, E. W., & Fields, D. A. (2014). Body composition assessment in the infant: Infant Body Composition Assessment. *American Journal of Human Biology*, *26*(3), 291–304. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajhb.22500

- Deputy, N. P., Sharma, A. J., Kim, S. Y., & Hinkle, S. N. (2015). Prevalence and Characteristics Associated With Gestational Weight Gain Adequacy: *Obstetrics & Gynecology*, *125*(4), 773–781. https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.000000000000739
- Ellis, K. J., Yao, M., Shypailo, R. J., Urlando, A., Wong, W. W., & Heird, W. C. (2007).
   Body-composition assessment in infancy: Air-displacement plethysmography compared with a reference 4-compartment model. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 85(1), 90–95. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/85.1.90
- Evenson, K. R., Barakat, R., Brown, W. J., Dargent-Molina, P., Haruna, M., Mikkelsen, E. M., Mottola, M. F., Owe, K. M., Rousham, E. K., & Yeo, S. (2014). Guidelines for Physical Activity during Pregnancy: Comparisons From Around the World. *American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine*, *8*(2), 102–121.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1559827613498204

- Fazzi, C., Saunders, D. H., Linton, K., Norman, J. E., & Reynolds, R. M. (2017). Sedentary behaviours during pregnancy: A systematic review. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 14(1), 32. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-017-0485-z
- Freedson, P. S., Melanson, E., & Sirard, J. (1998). Calibration of the Computer Science and Applications, Inc. Accelerometer: *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 30(5), 777–781. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005768-199805000-00021
- Garnæs, K. K., Nyrnes, S. A., Salvesen, K. Å., Salvesen, Ø., Mørkved, S., & Moholdt, T. (2017). Effect of supervised exercise training during pregnancy on neonatal and maternal outcomes among overweight and obese women. Secondary analyses of

the ETIP trial: A randomised controlled trial. *PLOS ONE, 12*(3), e0173937. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0173937

- Harrod, C. S., Chasan-Taber, L., Reynolds, R. M., Fingerlin, T. E., Glueck, D. H., Brinton, J. T., & Dabelea, D. (2014). Physical Activity in Pregnancy and Neonatal Body
  Composition: The Healthy Start Study. *Obstetrics & Gynecology*, *124*(2, PART 1), 257–264. https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.000000000000373
- Harvey, N. C., Poole, J. R., Javaid, M. K., Dennison, E. M., Robinson, S., Inskip, H. M.,
  Godfrey, K. M., Cooper, C., & Sayer, A. A. (2007). Parental Determinants of
  Neonatal Body Composition. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*,
  92(2), 523–526. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2006-0456
- Hopkins, S. A., Baldi, J. C., Cutfield, W. S., McCowan, L., & Hofman, P. L. (2010). Exercise Training in Pregnancy Reduces Offspring Size without Changes in Maternal Insulin Sensitivity. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 95(5), 2080–2088. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2009-2255
- Johnson, T. S., & Engstrom, J. L. (2002). State of the science in measurement of infant size at birth. *Newborn and Infant Nursing Reviews*, *2*(3), 150–158. https://doi.org/10.1053/nbin.2002.35122

Joshi, N. P., Kulkarni, S. R., Yajnik, C. S., Joglekar, C. V., Rao, S., Coyaji, K. J., Lubree, H. G., Rege, S. S., & Fall, C. H. D. (2005). Increasing maternal parity predicts neonatal adiposity: Pune Maternal Nutrition Study. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 193(3), 783–789. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2005.01.020 Juhl, M., Olsen, J., Andersen, P. K., Nøhr, E. A., & Andersen, A.-M. N. (2010). Physical exercise during pregnancy and fetal growth measures: A study within the Danish National Birth Cohort. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 202(1), 63.e1-63.e8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2009.07.033

King, J. C. (2000). Physiology of pregnancy and nutrient metabolism. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 71(5), 1218S-1225S. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/71.5.1218s

- Kong, K. L., Gillman, M. W., Rifas-Shiman, S. L., & Wen, X. (2016). Leisure time physical activity before and during mid-pregnancy and offspring adiposity in mid-childhood. *Pediatric Obesity*, *11*(2), 81–87. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijpo.12024
- Lee, D. H., Keum, N., Hu, F. B., Orav, E. J., Rimm, E. B., Willett, W. C., & Giovannucci, E. L. (2018). Predicted lean body mass, fat mass, and all cause and cause specific mortality in men: Prospective US cohort study. *BMJ*, k2575. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.k2575
- Lo, J. O., Mission, J. F., & Caughey, A. B. (2013). Hypertensive disease of pregnancy and maternal mortality: *Current Opinion in Obstetrics and Gynecology*, *25*(2), 124– 132. https://doi.org/10.1097/GCO.0b013e32835e0ef5

Magro-Malosso, E. R., Saccone, G., Di Tommaso, M., Roman, A., & Berghella, V. (2017). Exercise during pregnancy and risk of gestational hypertensive disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica, 96*(8), 921–931. https://doi.org/10.1111/aogs.13151

- McCarthy, F., Khashan, A., Murray, D., Kiely, M., Hourihane, J. O., Pasupathy, D., Kenny, L., & on behalf of the SCOPE Ireland Cohort study and the Cork BASELINE Birth Cohort Study. (2016). Parental physical and lifestyle factors and their association with newborn body composition. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, *123*(11), 1824–1829. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.14042
- McCarthy, F. P., Khashan, A. S., Murray, D., Kiely, M., Hourihane, J. O., Pasupathy, D., & Kenny, L. C. (2016). Parental physical and lifestyle factors and their association with newborn body composition. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, *123*(11), 1824–1829. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.14042
- Moyer, C., Reoyo, O. R., & May, L. (2016a). The Influence of Prenatal Exercise on Offspring Health: A Review. *Clinical Medicine Insights: Women's Health*, *9*, CMWH.S34670. https://doi.org/10.4137/CMWH.S34670
- Moyer, C., Reoyo, O. R., & May, L. (2016b). The Influence of Prenatal Exercise on Offspring Health: A Review. *Clinical Medicine Insights. Women's Health*, *9*, 37– 42. https://doi.org/10.4137/CMWH.S34670
- Mudd, L. M., Scheurer, J. M., Pruett, M., Demerath, E. W., Kapur, A., & Ramel, S. E.
  (2019). Relations among maternal physical activity during pregnancy and child body composition. *Obesity Science & Practice*, 5(3), 246–250.
  https://doi.org/10.1002/osp4.332
- Mudd, Lanay M., Owe, K. M., Mottola, M. F., & Pivarnik, J. M. (2013). Health Benefits of Physical Activity during Pregnancy: An International Perspective. *Medicine &*

*Science in Sports & Exercise*, *45*(2), 268–277.

https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e31826cebcb

- Mudd, Lanay M., Pivarnik, J. M., Pfeiffer, K. A., Paneth, N., Chung, H., & Holzman, C. (2015). Maternal Physical Activity During Pregnancy, Child Leisure-Time Activity, and Child Weight Status at 3 to 9 Years. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, *12*(4), 506–514. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.2013-0173
- Nakamura, A., van der Waerden, J., Melchior, M., Bolze, C., El-Khoury, F., & Pryor, L. (2019). Physical activity during pregnancy and postpartum depression: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 246,* 29–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2018.12.009
- Newby, E. A., Myers, D. A., & Ducsay, C. A. (2015). Fetal endocrine and metabolic adaptations to hypoxia: The role of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis.
   *American Journal of Physiology. Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 309(5), E429-439. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00126.2015
- Norris, T., McCarthy, F. P., Khashan, A. S., Murray, D. M., Kiely, M., Hourihane, J. O., Baker, P. N., & Kenny, L. C. (2017). Do changing levels of maternal exercise during pregnancy affect neonatal adiposity? Secondary analysis of the babies after SCOPE: evaluating the longitudinal impact using neurological and nutritional endpoints (BASELINE) birth cohort (Cork, Ireland). *BMJ Open*, 7(11), e017987. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-017987

- Norton, K., Norton, L., & Sadgrove, D. (2010). Position statement on physical activity and exercise intensity terminology. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, *13*(5), 496–502. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2009.09.008
- Ong, K. K. (2006). Size at Birth, Postnatal Growth and Risk of Obesity. *Hormone Research in Paediatrics*, *65*(3), 65–69. https://doi.org/10.1159/000091508

Owe, K. M., Nystad, W., & Bø, K. (2009). Association Between Regular Exercise and Excessive Newborn Birth Weight. *Obstetrics & Gynecology*, *114*(4), 770. https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.0b013e3181b6c105

Pastorino, S., Bishop, T., Crozier, S. R., Granström, C., Kordas, K., Küpers, L. K., O'Brien, E.
C., Polanska, K., Sauder, K. A., Zafarmand, M. H., Wilson, R. C., Agyemang, C.,
Burton, P. R., Cooper, C., Corpeleijn, E., Dabelea, D., Hanke, W., Inskip, H. M.,
McAuliffe, F. M., ... Ong, K. K. (2018). Associations between maternal physical
activity in early and late pregnancy and offspring birth size: Remote federated
individual level meta-analysis from eight cohort studies. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, *126*(4), 459–470.

https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.15476

Petrov Fieril, K., Glantz, A., & Fagevik Olsen, M. (2015). The efficacy of moderate-tovigorous resistance exercise during pregnancy: A randomized controlled trial. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica*, *94*(1), 35–42.

https://doi.org/10.1111/aogs.12525

Pivarnik, J. M. (1998). Potential effects of maternal physical activity on birth weight: Brief review. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 30(3), 400–406. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005768-199803000-00010

Poyatos-León, R., García-Hermoso, A., Sanabria-Martínez, G., Álvarez-Bueno, C., Sánchez-López, M., & Martínez-Vizcaíno, V. (2015). Effects of exercise during pregnancy on mode of delivery: A meta-analysis. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica, 94*(10), 1039–1047.

https://doi.org/10.1111/aogs.12675

- Prather, H., Spitznagle, T., & Hunt, D. (2012). Benefits of Exercise During Pregnancy. *PM&R*, 4(11), 845–850. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmrj.2012.07.012
- Price, B. B., Amini, S. B., & Kappeler, K. (2012). Exercise in Pregnancy: Effect on Fitness and Obstetric Outcomes—A Randomized Trial. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 44(12), 2263–2269. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e318267ad67
- Rao, S., Kanade, A., Margetts, B. M., Yajnik, C. S., Lubree, H., Rege, S., Desai, B., Jackson,
  A., & Fall, C. H. D. (2003). Maternal activity in relation to birth size in rural India.
  The Pune Maternal Nutrition Study. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *57*(4),
  531–542. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601582

Rasmussen, K., & Yaktine, A. L. (2009). Weight Gain During Pregnancy: Reexamining the Guidelines. National Academies Press (US).

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK32813/

Rudd, R. E. (2007). Health literacy skills of U.S. adults. *American Journal of Health Behavior, 31 Suppl 1*, S8-18. https://doi.org/10.5555/ajhb.2007.31.supp.S8

- Sandall, J., Tribe, R. M., Avery, L., Mola, G., Visser, G. H., Homer, C. S., Gibbons, D., Kelly, N. M., Kennedy, H. P., Kidanto, H., Taylor, P., & Temmerman, M. (2018). Shortterm and long-term effects of caesarean section on the health of women and children. *The Lancet*, *392*(10155), 1349–1357. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31930-5
- Sattler, M. C., Jaunig, J., Watson, E. D., van Poppel, M. N. M., Mokkink, L. B., Terwee, C.
  B., & Dietz, P. (2018). Physical Activity Questionnaires for Pregnancy: A
  Systematic Review of Measurement Properties. *Sports Medicine*, 48(10), 2317–2346. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-018-0961-x
- Sayers, S. M., Lancaster, P. A. L., & Whitehead, C. L. (2017). Fetal Growth Restriction:
  Causes and Outcomes. In *International Encyclopedia of Public Health* (pp. 132–142). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-803678-5.00159-4
- Seneviratne, S., Jiang, Y., Derraik, J., McCowan, L., Parry, G., Biggs, J., Craigie, S., Gusso,
  S., Peres, G., Rodrigues, R., Ekeroma, A., Cutfield, W., & Hofman, P. (2016).
  Effects of antenatal exercise in overweight and obese pregnant women on
  maternal and perinatal outcomes: A randomised controlled trial. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, *123*(4), 588–597.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.13738
- Seneviratne, S. N., Derraik, J. G. B., Jiang, Y., McCowan, L. M. E., Gusso, S., Biggs, J. B., Parry, G. K., Chiavaroli, V., Cutfield, W. S., & Hofman, P. L. (2017). Nulliparity is associated with subtle adverse metabolic outcomes in overweight/obese

mothers and their offspring. *Clinical Endocrinology*, 87(5), 545–551.

https://doi.org/10.1111/cen.13426

Sklempe Kokic, I., Ivanisevic, M., Biolo, G., Simunic, B., Kokic, T., & Pisot, R. (2018).

Combination of a structured aerobic and resistance exercise improves glycaemic control in pregnant women diagnosed with gestational diabetes mellitus. A randomised controlled trial. *Women and Birth*, *31*(4), e232–e238.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wombi.2017.10.004

Stages of pregnancy. (2016, December 13). Womenshealth.Gov.

https://www.womenshealth.gov/pregnancy/youre-pregnant-now-what/stagespregnancy

Starling, A. P., Brinton, J. T., Glueck, D. H., Shapiro, A. L., Harrod, C. S., Lynch, A. M., Siega-Riz, A. M., & Dabelea, D. (2015). Associations of maternal BMI and gestational weight gain with neonatal adiposity in the Healthy Start study. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *101*(2), 302–309.

https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.114.094946

Streuling, I., Beyerlein, A., Rosenfeld, E., Hofmann, H., Schulz, T., & von Kries, R. (2011).
Physical activity and gestational weight gain: A meta-analysis of intervention
trials: Physical activity and gestational weight gain. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, *118*(3), 278–284.
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0528.2010.02801.x

 Sui, Z. (2013). Enablers of and barriers to making healthy change during pregnancy in overweight and obese women. *Australasian Medical Journal*, 6(11), 565–577. https://doi.org/10.4066/AMJ.2013.1881

Tinius, R. A., Cahill, A. G., Strand, E. A., & Cade, W. T. (2016). Maternal inflammation during late pregnancy is lower in physically active compared with inactive obese women. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism*, 41(2), 191–198. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2015-0316

Trak-Fellermeier, M. A., Campos, M., Meléndez, M., Pomeroy, J., Palacios, C., Rivera-Viñas, J., Méndez, K., Febo, I., Willett, W., Gillman, M. W., Franks, P. W., & Joshipura, K. (2019). PEARLS randomized lifestyle trial in pregnant Hispanic women with overweight/obesity: Gestational weight gain and offspring birthweight. *Diabetes, Metabolic Syndrome and Obesity: Targets and Therapy*, *Volume 12*, 225–238. https://doi.org/10.2147/DMSO.S179009

Tribe, R. M., Taylor, P. D., Kelly, N. M., Rees, D., Sandall, J., & Kennedy, H. P. (2018). Parturition and the perinatal period: Can mode of delivery impact on the future health of the neonate?: Mode of delivery and future health. *The Journal of Physiology*, *596*(23), 5709–5722. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP275429

Troiano, R. P., McClain, J. J., Brychta, R. J., & Chen, K. Y. (2014). Evolution of accelerometer methods for physical activity research. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 48(13), 1019–1023. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2014-093546

van Hees, V. T., Renström, F., Wright, A., Gradmark, A., Catt, M., Chen, K. Y., Löf, M., Bluck, L., Pomeroy, J., Wareham, N. J., Ekelund, U., Brage, S., & Franks, P. W.

81

(2011). Estimation of Daily Energy Expenditure in Pregnant and Non-Pregnant Women Using a Wrist-Worn Tri-Axial Accelerometer. *PLoS ONE*, *6*(7), e22922. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0022922

van Poppel, M. N. M., Simmons, D., Devlieger, R., van Assche, F. A., Jans, G., Galjaard, S., Corcoy, R., Adelantado, J. M., Dunne, F., Harreiter, J., Kautzky-Willer, A., Damm, P., Mathiesen, E. R., Jensen, D. M., Andersen, L.-L., Tanvig, M., Lapolla, A., Dalfra, M. G., Bertolotto, A., ... Desoye, G. (2019). A reduction in sedentary behaviour in obese women during pregnancy reduces neonatal adiposity: The DALI randomised controlled trial. *Diabetologia*, *62*(6), 915–925. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-019-4842-0

- Wang, M. L., Dorer, D. J., Fleming, M. P., & Catlin, E. A. (2004). Clinical Outcomes of Near-Term Infants. *PEDIATRICS*, 114(2), 372–376. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.114.2.372
- Warburton, D. E. R., Nicol, C. W., & Bredin, S. S. D. (2006). Health benefits of physical activity: The evidence. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, *174*(6), 801–809. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.051351
- White, E., Pivarnik, J., & Pfeiffer, K. (2014). Resistance Training During Pregnancy and Perinatal Outcomes. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, *11*(6), 1141–1148. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.2012-0350
- Xu, H., Simonet, F., & Luo, Z.-C. (2010). Optimal birth weight percentile cut-offs in defining small- or large-for-gestational-age. Acta Paediatrica (Oslo, Norway: 1992), 99(4), 550–555. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1651-2227.2009.01674.x

Zhang, X., Decker, A., Platt, R. W., & Kramer, M. S. (2008). How big is too big? The perinatal consequences of fetal macrosomia. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 198(5), 517.e1-517.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2007.12.005 APPENDIX A

Study Flyer

# PREGNANT PARTICIPANTS NEEDED



If you or someone you know is pregnant and interested in participating in research, please contact WKU pregnancy studies for more information.

Partiel

Our lab studies how diet and physical activity influence health in mom and baby- both during pregnancy and during postpartum. We have a variety of studies and would like to find one that works for you!

Eligible participants will receive compensation for their time and effort.

# IF YOU ARE INTERESTED, PLEASE CONTACT US!

Email: pregnancy@wku.edu Phone: 270-745-5026 (Dr. Rachel Tinius)



# APPENDIX B

# **IRB Stamped Informed Consent**



## INFORMED CONSENT DOCUMENT

Project Title: Does physical activity influence metabolic function and inflammation during pregnancy?

Investigator: Dr. Rachel Tinius, School of Kinesiology, Recreation, and Sport, (270) 745-5026

You are being asked to participate in a project conducted through Western Kentucky University. The University requires that you give your signed agreement to participate in this project.

The investigator will explain to you in detail the purpose of the project, the procedures to be used, and the potential benefits and possible risks of participation. You may ask any questions you have to help you understand the project. A basic explanation of the project is written below. Please read this explanation and discuss with the researcher any questions you may have.

If you then decide to participate in the project, please sign this form in the presence of the person who explained the project to you. You should be given a copy of this form to keep.

#### 1. Nature and Purpose of the Project:

Physical activity improves outcomes in pregnant women (irrespective of body weight). However, doctors and scientists do not understand the connections between exercise during pregnancy and infant health. Therefore, the goal of this project is to determine the impact of a physically active lifestyle on infant body composition.

## 2. Explanation of Procedures:

The study will involve wearing a wristwatch that monitors your physical activity levels for one week. You will also be given a packet of surveys to take inquiring about your exercise and dietary habits.

Before you are discharged from the hospital after having your baby, the study team will coordinate with you and your nursing team a time to come by and get measurements on the baby. These measurements will include skinfolds at four sites (hip, thigh, arm, and back). You can hold the baby for these measurements. We will also measure the baby's length, head circumference, and abdominal circumference. In addition, we will measure the baby's body composition using a PEAPOD system. This will involve your baby lying naked in an egg-shaped device for 2 minutes. The device is clear and you will be able to



see and talk to your baby the entire time. There are no risks to your baby by taking these measurements. These measurements may be done bedside or in a separate room by the nursery. Parents are welcome to attend/witness all measurements. A nurse will also be present for measurements.

## Do we have permission to obtain study-related information from your prenatal chart?

Yes No Initials Initials

## 3. Discomfort and Risks:

## What are the risks to you?

There are no known maternal risks in the present study.

#### What are the risks to your baby?

## Skin fold measurements:

There is no risk of harm from this measure, although baby may briefly experience a very mild discomfort resulting from the light pinch of skin with the caliper. This pinching sensation is about as uncomfortable as if you were to lightly take a pinch of skin between your fingers.

PeaPod Measurement: There is no risk to the baby with this measure. However, being naked may upset the baby as they are used to being clothed and swaddled. The machine carefully monitors temperature and will keep them warm during the test.

## 4. Benefits:

You will not benefit directly from being in the study. However, you will learn information about your exercise levels and your baby's body composition. We also hope the knowledge we gain will help us understand lifestyle factors that influence pregnancy outcomes.

You will be paid \$35 for your participation in this study. You will be paid \$10 when the surveys are collected (and the physical activity monitor has been worn for one week) and \$25 when the measurements on your infant are complete.

#### 5. Confidentiality:

To help protect your confidentiality, we will do everything we can to keep your information private and protected. Your research file will contain identifiable information such as your name, patient ID#, and birthday. Protected Health Information (PHI) will be created by the study. Study PHI will be kept in your research record and only the research team will have access to the information. The data obtained from this study will be kept confidential. Patients are assigned a study specific identifying number

> WKU IRB# 16-229 Approval - 12/06/2019 End Date - 12/06/2020 Full Board Original - 12/14/2015





(PID) upon entry to the study, after which all medical information is referenced by this number. Databases that contain private health, medical or research information are behind firewalls, require password/username for access, are maintained using the PID, and only the PI and Co-PIs, have access to the code that matches the PID with other patient identifiers. All hardcopy data records are stored in locked file cabinets and kept in a locked office. If we write a report or article about this study or share the study data set with others, we will do so in such a way that you cannot be directly identified

## 6. Refusal/Withdrawal:

Refusal to participate in this study will have no effect on any future services you may be entitled to from the University or from your physician. Anyone who agrees to participate in this study is free to withdraw from the study at any time with no penalty.

You understand also that it is not possible to identify all potential risks in an experimental procedure, and you believe that reasonable safeguards have been taken to minimize both the known and potential but unknown risks.

Signature of Participant	Date		
Witness	Date		

## Informed Assent from Infants

My child's participation in this project is voluntary, and I have been told that I may stop his/her participation in this study at any time. I give permission for my baby to participate in this study.

Signature of Parent/Guardian)	(Date)	
Name of Parent/Guardian- printed)	(Relationship to p	articipant - printed)
THE DATED APPROVAL THIS PROJECT HAS THE WESTERN KENTUCKY	ON THIS CONSENT FORM INDICATI BEEN REVIEWED AND APPROVED UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONAL REVI	ES THAT BY EW BOARD
Robin Pyles TEL	Human Protections Administrator EPHONE: (270) 745-3360	WKU IRB# 16-

End Date - 12/06/2020 Full Board Original - 12/14/2015

# APPENDIX C

# Physician Release Form





A LEADING AMERICAN UNIVERSITY WITH INTERNATIONAL REACH SCHOOL OF KINESIOLOGY, RECREATION & SPORT

## PHYSICIAN'S RELEASE

## Patient's Name

This page will give you the information you will need to understand why this study is being done and why your patient is being invited to participate. It will also describe any known risks, inconveniences or discomforts that your patient may have while participating. We encourage you to ask questions at any time, including via email or phone.

- PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND The purpose of this study is to assess the role of exercise during pregnancy on infant body composition.
- 2. PROCEDURES

The patient will wear a physical activity monitor for a week and complete surveys related to diet and exercise habits. The infant will be measured via the "PeaPod" system ~24 hours after delivery.

3. RISKS

There are no known risks to participation.

4. BENEFITS

The patient will be compensated for her time and effort. There are no direct benefits to the patient, but we believe the knowledge we gain will improve help identify mechanisms to target with future interventions, and thus, improve pregnancy-related outcomes for future women and their infants.

> QUESTIONS

If you have any questions or concerns about your patient's participation in this program, please call Dr. Rachel Tinius at 270-745-5026. rachel.tinius@wku.edu

Physician's Signature	Date
Printed name	WKU IRB# 16-229
	End Date - 12/06/2020
	Full Board
	Unginal - 12/14/2015

# APPENDIX D

# General Demographic Survey

# **General Survey Questions**

	YES	Due date:	NO			
	Do vo	u have any other c	hildren?			
	YES	how many?	ages?	NO		
į,	What	is your age?		12		
	What	ethnicity do you as	sociate with?			
	a.	White				
	b.	African American				
	с.	Hispanic				
	d.	Native American				
	e.	Asian				
	f.	Prefer not to say				
	What	is the highest level	of education complete	ed?		
	a.	Some high schoo				
	b.	High school grade	uate			
	с.	Some college				
	d.	Technical/trade/	vocational training			
	e. College graduate					
	f.	Post graduate de	gree			
i.	In a ty	pical week, with a	workout lasting at leas	t 30 minutes to an hour, how are you		
	curren	ntly exercising?				
	a.	None				
	b.	Once a week				
	С,	2-3 times a week				
	d.	4-5 times a week				
	e.	Everyday				
2	Do yo	u have any current	ongoing health issues	?		
	YES	NO				
	If yes,	please describe be	low.			
	-	9				
	Pre-p	regnancy Height	<u> </u>			
	Pro-D	regnancy Weight				

10. What is your household income? \$\_\_\_\_\_

# APPENDIX E

# Pregnancy Physical Activity Questionnaire (PPAQ)







Dressing, bathing, feeding

6.

## 14. Playing with pets

#### O None

O Less than 1/2 hour per day O 1/2 to almost 1 hour per day O 1 to almost 2 hours per day O 2 to almost 3 hours per day O 3 or more hours per day 1/2 to almost 2 hours per day
2 to almost 4 hours per day
4 to almost 6 hours per day
6 or more hours per day
15. Light cleaning (make beds, laundry, iron, put things away)

O Less than 1/2 hour per day

O None

O None O Less than 1/2 hour per day O 1/2 to almost 1 hour per day O 1 to almost 2 hours per day

O 2 to almost 3 hours per day O 3 or more hours per day

er 11. Sitting and using a computer or writing, while not at work O None er day O Less than 1/2 hour per day or day O 1/2 to almost 1 hour per day our day O 1 to almost 2 hours per day oer day O 2 to almost 3 hours per day day O 3 or more hours per day

Office Use Only - IDA

During this trimester, when you are NOT at work, how much time do you usually spend:

7. Playing with children while

# Sitting and reading, talking, or on the phone, while <u>not</u> at work O None O Less than 1/2 hour per day

8. Playing with children while

O None

you are walking or running

O Less than 1/2 hour per day

O 1/2 to almost 1 hour per day

O 1 to almost 2 hours per day O 2 to almost 3 hours per day

O 3 or more hours per day

O 1/2 to almost 2 hours per day O 2 to almost 4 hours per day O 4 to almost 6 hours per day O 6 or more hours per day

## 16. Shopping (for food, clothes, or other items)

#### O None

- O Less than 1/2 hour per day
- O 1/2 to almost 1 hour per day
- O 1 to almost 2 hours per day
- O 2 to almost 3 hours per day
- O 3 or more hours per day

Page 2

## 1758 Official Journal of the American College of Sports Medicine

Copyright © American College of Sports Medicine. Unsuthorized reproduction of this amole in prohibite





# Going Places...

During this trimester, how much time do you usually spend:

20.	Walking <u>slowly</u> to go places (such as to the bus, work, visiting) <u>Not</u> for fun or exercise	21	Walking quickly to go places (such as to the bus, work, or school) <u>Not</u> for fun or exercise	22.	Driving or riding in a car or bus
	O None		O None		O None
	O Less than 1/2 hour per day		O Less than 1/2 hour per day		O Less than 1/2 hour per day
	O 1/2 to almost 1 hour per day		O 1/2 to almost 1 hour per day		O 1/2 to almost 1 hour per day
	O 1 to almost 2 hours per day		O 1 to almost 2 hours per day		O 1 to almost 2 hours per day
	O 2 to almost 3 hours per day		O 2 to almost 3 hours per day		O 2 to almost 3 hours per day
	O 3 or more hours per day		O 3 or more hours per day		O 3 or more hours per day

# For Fun or Exercise...

During this trimester, how much time do you usually spend:

23. Walking slowly for fun or exercise	24. Walking more <u>guickly</u> for fun or exercise	25. Walking guickly up hills for fun or exercise
O None	O None	O None
O Less than 1/2 hour per week	O Less than 1/2 hour per week	O Less than 1/2 hour per week
O 1/2 to almost 1 hour per week	O 1/2 to almost 1 hour per week	O 1/2 to almost 1 hour per week
O 1 to almost 2 hours per week	O 1 to almost 2 hours per week	O 1 to almost 2 hours per week
O 2 to almost 3 hours per week	O 2 to almost 3 hours per week	O 2 to almost 3 hours per week
O 3 or more hours per week	O 3 or more hours per week	O 3 or more hours per week

Page 3

PREGNANCY PHYSICAL ACTIVITY QUESTIONNAIRE

Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise: 1759

Copyright & American College of Sports Medicine. Unsufficinged reproduction of this amole in prohibited



Office Use Only - ID#



During this trimester, how m	uch time do you usually spend:	
26. Jogging	27. Prenatal exercise class	28. Swimming
O None	O None	O None
O Less than 1/2 hour per week	O Less than 1/2 hour per week	O Less than 1/2 hour per week
O 1/2 to almost 1 hour per week	O 1/2 to almost 1 hour per week	O 1/2 to almost 1 hour per week
O 1 to almost 2 hours per week	O 1 to almost 2 hours per week	O 1 to almost 2 hours per week
O 2 to almost 3 hours per week	O 2 to almost 3 hours per week	O 2 to almost 3 hours per week
O 3 or more hours per week	O 3 or more hours per week	O 3 or more hours per week
29. Dancing	Doing other things for fun or exerci	se? Please tell us what they are.
O None	30.	31.
O Less than 1/2 hour per week	Name of Activity	Name of Activity
O 1/2 to almost 1 hour per week	O None	O None
O 1 to almost 2 hours per week	O Less than 1/2 hour per week	O Less than 1/2 hour per week
O 2 to almost 3 hours per week	O 1/2 to almost 1 hour per week	O 1/2 to almost 1 hour per week
O 3 or more hours per week	O 1 to almost 2 hours per week	O 1 to almost 2 hours per week
	O 2 to almost 3 hours per week.	O 2 to almost 3 hours per week
	O 3 or more hours per week	O 3 or more hours per week

Please fill out the next section if you work for wages, as a volunteer, or if you are a student. If you are a homemaker, out of work, or unable to work, you do not need to complete this last section.

# At Work...

During this trimester, how much time do you usually spend:



1760 Official Journal of the American College of Sports Medicine



# APPENDIX F

## Infant Visit Protocol

## Infant Visit Protocol

1. Mother Contacts WKU Pregnancy Research Team

- 1.1. Baby is delivered in Labor and Delivery Ward at The Medical Center
- 1.2. Mom and baby transferred to the Postpartum Ward (2B) at The Medical Center
- 1.3. Mother notifies WKU Pregnancy Research Team (pregnancy@wku.edu) of birth
- 1.4. WKU Research Team arranges for study visit-scheduled before discharge 2. Research Team Contacts Hospital
  - 2.1. WKU Research Team Member contacts nurses station in the Postpartum Ward 2B) at The Medical Center to notify of upcoming study visit (270)-796-2398
  - 2.2. Postpartum nurse/aid turns on the PEAPOD TWO to FOUR HOURS before research team member arrives to calibrate
- WKU Research Team Member Arrives at Hospital
  - 3.1. Team Member arrives at hospital ~45 minutes before study visit
  - 3.2. Team Member enters The Medical Center at the main hospital entrance
  - 3.3. Team Member requests entrance to Postpartum Ward (2B) from nurses station (nurse contacted from previous phone call is referenced)
  - 3.4. Upon entrance to the Postpartum Ward (2B). Team Member sanitizes hands at nurses station
  - 3.5. Team Member requests nurse/aid assistance for access to the PEAPOD in the 2B Overflow Supply Closet located on 2A
- 4. Calibrate PEAPOD
  - 4.1. Upon entrance to Supply Closet, a safe and clear path to the PEAPOD is created
    - 4.1.1. All excess nursery beds, isolates, and equipment in storage that are blocking a clear, direct path from the PEAPOD to the door are repositioned within the closet
  - 4.2. Team Member wakes PEAPOD from sleep mode and signs in to the COSMED software on the PEAPOD
  - 4.3. Team Member ensures PEAPOD is warm enough before calibration begins
    - 4.3.1. Reference Chamber (88.9°F)
    - 4.3.2. Test (88.9°-89.7°F)
    - 4.3.3. Heater (closer to the reference chamber (88.9°F) the better; needs to be lower than (90.1°F) to shut off the TOO COLD ALERT)
      - 4.3.3.1. PEAPOD cannot be calibrated if the reference & test chambers are below 86°F, heater is above 97°F; and the TOO COLD ALERT is present

## 4.4. Select QC Tab to begin Calibration

4.4.1. Analyze Hardware

- 4.4.1.1. Follow all prompts on the screen to ensure all hardware is operating properly before proceeding
- 4.4.1.2. If any error message appears (1: reference PEAPOD user manual below keyboard of PEAPOD in white 3-ring binder. 2: notify Dr. Rachel

# I.V.P. (Continued)

Tinius (270)-745-5026 of hardware malfunction. 3: call COSMED representative to assist with troubleshooting)

- 4.4.1.3. Must have OPERATIONAL or PASS status before proceeding
- 4.4.2. Calibrate Scale
  - 4.4.2.1. Scale should be calibrated before each study visit
  - 4.4.2.2. Follow all prompts using the 2kg calibrated & verified weight on the scale, make sure to place in the center
  - Must PASS before moving on 4.4.2.3.
  - 4.4.2.4.
  - If it FAILS, repeat scale calibration again If it FAILS more than twice, contact Dr. Rachel Tinius and 4.4.2.5.
  - COSMED Rep
- 4.4.3. SKIP Check Scale
- 4.4.4. Autorun
  - 4.4.4.1. Follow all prompts using the calibrated & verified Volume Cylinder; make sure cylinder rests in the crevice within the testing chamber to ensure it does not move while closing the chamber
  - 4.4.4.2. Must PASS before moving on

  - 4.4.4.3. 4.4.4.4. If it FAILS, repeat Autorun again If it FAILS more than twice, contact Dr. Rachel Tinius and
  - COSMED Rep
- 4.4.5. Volume
  - 4.4.5.1. Follow all prompts using the calibrated & verified Volume Cylinder; make sure cylinder rests in the crevice within the testing chamber to ensure it does not move while closing the chamber
  - 4.4.5.2. Must PASS before moving on
  - 4.4.5.3. If it FAILS, repeat Volume test again
  - 4.4.5.4. If it FAILS more than twice, contact Dr. Rachel Tinius and COSMED Rep
- 4.4.6. Closing
  - 4.4.6.1. Logout of COSMED Software
  - 4.4.6.2.
  - Shut down the PEAPOD like a computer (i.e., start-shutdown)
- Ensure machine is completely off before unplugging from the wall 4.4.6.3.
- Unlock and remove vellow plastic chain from around PEAPOD
- 6. Gather baby bag, study folder, 2x Chux (i.e., blue sanitary pads used during study visit located in the clear, plastic tote to the right of the PEAPOD on the floor of the supply closet), and baby sock cap (also located in the clear, plastic tote to the right of the PEAPOD on the floor of the supply closet)
- Unlock wheels of PEAPOD and move to 2B
- Team Member requests nurse/aid assistance (270)-796-2398 for access back over to 2B with the PEAPOD for study visit in participant's room
- 9. Locate, knock, verify study visit time, and enter participant's room
- 10. Set up PEAPOD in room
  - 10.1. Plug in, position PEAPOD so back faces the door, lock wheels
  - 10.2. Team Member sanitizes hands
  - 10.3. Team Member signs in to the COSMED software on the PEAPOD

# **I.V.P.** (Continued)

 Make sure PEAPOD begins sequence to warm back up and prepare for test

## 11. Infant Measures

11.1. Mother orally responds to infant birth demographic questions and is recorded by research team member on the Baby Measurements sheet in the study folder

- 11.2. Team Member washes hands in participant's room and gloves up before infant measurements begin
- Take out the Gullick Tape Measure and follow circumference protocol (Johnson and Engstrom 2002)
  - 11.3.1. Remove any head covering and measure head circumference record in cm in study folder
  - 11.3.2. Remove blanket and clothing (i.e., onesie) measure abdominal circumference—record in cm in study folder
- 11.4. Skinfolds
  - 11.4.1. Folds of the skin at four sites-triceps, subscapular, thigh, and hipmeasured by lifting the skin with the thumb and index finger and the thickness of each fold is pressed with a caliper (Harpenden Skinfolds Caliper, Baty International, United Kingdom) twice and recorded in mm in the study folder. If there is a difference greater than 2mm between two measurements, a third measure is taken.
- 11.5. PEAPOD
  - 11.5.1. Select TEST--BODY COMPOSITION on PEAPOD
  - 11.5.2. Input infant birth demographic data into PEAPOD
  - 11.5.3. Place one blue Coux(calibration) & the calibration infant bracelets on the scale to briefly tare the scale
  - 11.5.4. Make sure infant is completely undressed, wrap the infant with the
  - other blue Chux(testing), remove calibration materials and lie infant on scale 11.5.5. Place calibration bracelets and Chux(calibration) back on briefly to
    - tare the scale
  - 11.5.6. Place the baby sock cap on the infant's head so that all hair is stuck down smoothly against the head
  - 11.5.7. Infant is then placed in the testing chamber of the PEAPOD without the blue chux.
  - 11.5.8. Body composition test takes approx. 90 seconds
  - 11.5.9. Infant is then removed from testing chamber and redressed by parent/support visitor or the research team member assists upon the parent's request
- 11.6. Wrap-up
  - 11.6.1. Mother is paid for the infant visit and signs the payment signature/release form in the study folder
  - 11.6.2. PEAPOD print off reviewed and copy is given to parent
  - 11.6.3. WKU Research Participant baby cap given as thank you
  - 11.6.3.1. Make sure to inform parent that it has not been washed yet
- 12. Clean

# I.V.P. (Continued)

- 12.1. Remove a Clorox wipe from container in baby bag and wipe thoroughly the tape measure, skinfold calipers, and all surfaces of the PEAPOD (i.e., scale, testing chamber & shield, handle on outside of testing chamber, handle on back of PEAPOD, and keyboard)
- 13. Shutdown PEAPOD
  - Ensure measurement report has printed two copies (one for participant and one placed in study folder)
  - 13.2. Hit FINISH TEST
  - 13.3. Logout of COSMED Software
  - 13.4. Shut down the PEAPOD like a computer (i.e., start--shutdown)
  - 13.5. Ensure machine is completely off before unplugging from the wall
- 14. Team Member requests nurse/aid assistance (270)-796-2398 for access back over to 2A with the PEAPOD
- 14.1. Transport PEAPOD back to the 2B Overflow Supply Closet located on 2A 15. Place PEAPOD with back facing wall, plug in, lock wheels, and reposition yellow

chain and lock in place